Public Document Pack

" monmouthshire
W sir fynwy
Neuadd y Sir County Hall
Y Rhadyr Rhadyr
Brynbuga Usk
NP15 1GA NP15 1GA

Tuesday, 22 November 2016

Dear Councillor
INDIVDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS

Notice is hereby given that the following decisions made by a member of the cabinet will be
made on Wednesday, 30 November 2016.

1. DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER 2016, Section 53 (C)(i) 1-348
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Restricted Byway (53-16),
Great Panta, Devauden

Division/Wards Affected: Devauden
COUNTY COUNCILLOR: P Murphy

AUTHOR: Paul Keeble
Group Engineer (Highway & Flood Manager)

CONTACT DETAILS

E-mail: paulkeeble@monmouthshire.gov.uk
Telephone: 01633 644733

Yours sincerely,

Paul Matthews
Chief Executive



" monmouthshire
WP sir fynwy

CABINET PORTFOLIOS

Count I Partnership and

Counc)illlor Area of Responsibility External W%rking Ward

P.A. Fox Organisational Development WLGA Council Portskewett

(Leader) Whole Council Performance, Whole Council WLGA
Strategy Development, Corporate Services, Coordinating Board
Democracy. Local Service

Board
Environment, Public Services & Housing SEWTA
Development Control, Building Control, SEWSPG
Housing Service, Trading Standards, Public
Protection, Environment & Countryside.

R.J.W. Greenland | Innovation, Enterprise & Leisure WLGA Council Devauden

(Deputy Leader) Innovation Agenda, Economic Development, Capital Region
Tourism, Social Enterprise, Leisure, Libraries & | Tourism
Culture, Information Technology, Information
Systems.

P.A.D. Hobson Community Development Community Safety | Larkfield

(Deputy Leader) Community Planning/Total Place, Equalities, Partnership
Area Working, Citizen Engagement, Public Equalities and
Relations, Sustainability, Parks & Open Diversity Group
Spaces, Community Safety.

E.J. Hacket Pain Schools and Learning Joint Education Wyesham
School Improvement, Pre-School Learning, Group (EAS)

Additional Learning Needs, Children’s WJIEC
Disabilities, Families First, Youth Service, Adult
Education.

G. Burrows Social Care, Safeguarding & Health Gwent Frailty Mitchel
Adult Social Services including Integrated Board Troy
services, Learning disabilities, Mental Health. Older Persons
Children’s Services including Safeguarding, Strategy
Looked after Children, Youth Offending. Health | Partnership Group
and Wellbeing.

P. Murphy Resources Prosiect Gwrydd Caerwent
Accountancy, Internal Audit, Estates & Property | Wales Purchasing
Services, Procurement, Human Resources & Consortium
Training, Health & Safety.

S.B. Jones County Operations SEWTA Goytre
Highways, Transport, Traffic & Network Prosiect Gwyrdd Fawr

Management, Waste & Recycling, Engineering,
Landscapes, Flood Risk.




"1‘ monmouthshire

WP sir fynwy

Sustainable and Resilient Communities

Qutcomes we are working towards

Nobody Is Left Behind
e Older people are able to live their good life
e People have access to appropriate and affordable housing
e People have good access and mobility

People Are Confident, Capable and Involved
o People’s lives are not affected by alcohol and drug misuse
e Families are supported
o People feel safe

Our County Thrives
e Business and enterprise
e People have access to practical and flexible learning
e People protect and enhance the environment

Our priorities

e Schools

e Protection of vulnerable people

e Supporting Business and Job Creation

¢ Maintaining locally accessible services
Our Values

e Openness: we aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships.

e Fairness: we aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and
become an organisation built on mutual respect.

o Flexibility: we aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective
and efficient organisation.

e Teamwork: we aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by
building on our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals.



" monmouthshire
WP sir fynwy

Cymunedau Cynaliadwy a Chryf

Canlyniadau y gweithiwn i'w cyflawni

Neb yn cael ei adael ar 6l
o Gall pobl hyn fyw bywyd da
o Pobl & mynediad i dai addas a fforddiadwy
o Pobl & mynediad a symudedd da

Pobl yn hyderus, galluog ac yn cymryd rhan
¢ Camddefnyddio alcohol a chyffuriau ddim yn effeithio ar fywydau pobl
e Teuluoedd yn cael eu cefnogi
e Pobl yn teimlo'n ddiogel

Ein sir yn ffynnu
e Busnes a menter
e Pobl & mynediad i ddysgu ymarferol a hyblyg
e Pobl yn diogelu ac yn cyfoethogi'r amgylchedd

Ein blaenoriaethau
e Ysgolion
e Diogelu pobl agored i niwed
e Cefnogi busnes a chreu swyddi
¢ Cynnal gwasanaethau sy’'n hygyrch yn lleol

Ein gwerthoedd

e Bod yn agored: anelwn fod yn agored ac onest i ddatblygu perthnasoedd
ymddiriedus

e Tegwch: anelwn ddarparu dewis teg, cyfleoedd a phrofiadau a dod yn sefydliad a
adeiladwyd ar barch un at y llall.

o Hyblygrwydd: anelwn fod yn hyblyg yn ein syniadau a'n gweithredoedd i ddod yn
sefydliad effeithlon ac effeithiol.

e Gwaith tim: anelwn gydweithio i rannu ein llwyddiannau a'n methiannau drwy
adeiladu ar ein cryfderau a chefnogi ein gilydd i gyflawni ein nodau.



Agenda ltem 1

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
REPORT

SUBJECT: DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER 2016, Section
53 (C)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Restricted
Byway (53-16), Great Panta, Devauden

DIRECTORATE: ENTERPRISE

MEETING: Individual Cabinet Member Decision —
Councillor P. Hobson
DATE: 30" November 2016

DIVISIONS/WARDS AFFECTED: Devauden

1. PURPOSE:

1.1. To consider, under the above legislation if the route shown on the attached
map in Appendix 1 should be added to the Definitive Map and Statement.

1.2. The Authority is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity and must reach a decision
based on the evidence presented. We are not required to resolve conflicts in
the evidence and there may well be evidence on both sides of the issue. We
must weigh up the evidence using the test of the “balance of probabilities”,
and, if on this balance it is reasonable to conclude that the evidence shows
that change should be made, we must do so. Although officers have
considered the evidence, and made a recommendation based on their
appraisal, the Cabinet Member must consider the evidence and reach their
own conclusions. If a modification order is to be made anyone has a right to
object. The matter would then be determined by the Planning Inspectorate
for Wales.

2. RECOMMENDATION:

2.1. That having considered the documentary and other evidence, and the
recommendations of the Rights of Way Advisory Panel (Appendix 2), the
Cabinet Member for Community Development make a Definitive Map
Modification Order (DMMO) under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to
add to the Definitive Map and Statement a restricted byway, from point A to J
shown on the map in Appendix 1 attached. Also to confirm or seek
confirmation of the Order.

3. KEY ISSUES:

3.1.1 A number of routes in the Monmouthshire County Council area have been
recorded on Highway Authority records as Unclassified County Roads, but
were subsequently struck off these records for reasons which have not yet
been determined. As a result of this there is some ambiguity over their status.
Additionally these routes would now be subject to the Natural Environment
and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act). This removes vehicular status
unless one of the conditions in the act apply.

3.1.2 The status of one such route (Route 53-16) in the Devauden area has been
the subject of an ongoing dispute for some years and has been added back to
the List of Streets. The List of Streets is not regulated at the current time by
any process which allows for challenge and this led to an ombudsman
complain by the landowner. The ombudsman was satisfied that the Council
would reconsider the issue via the Definitive MAP Modification process.

3.1.3 The Highway Authority therefore appointed Robin Car Associates to
undertake the necessary investigations and consultation with a view to
producing an advisory report to assist them in determining whether or not the
route should be added to the Definitive Map. A copy of this report and bundle

Page 1



of supporting evidence form the background papers to this report and are
shown in Appendix 2.

3.1.4 The evidence includes historical documents, no witness statements and no
evidence forms. Two public consultations have been carried out including a
public participation meeting and the comments received are shown within the
bundle as part of the supporting evidence.

3.1.5 The Rights of Way Advisory Panel which met on the 19" July 2016 (appendix
1) recommended that the order is made. If the objections made are sustained
it is likely that the claim will go to the Planning Inspector for determination.

4 REASONS:

4.1.1 There are a number of historical documents that when taken together argues
that, on the balance of probabilities, C53-16 should be recorded as a
restricted byway.

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS:

5.1.1 The Council are legally obliged to make a Definitive Map Modification Order if
public highway rights are reasonably alleged to subsist. Such Orders must be
advertised in the local press and if objections are received, and not
subsequently withdrawn, the Order must be referred to the Welsh Assembly
Government/Planning Inspectorate for determination, and may lead to a local
public inquiry.

5.1.2 The Resource implications of this procedure is not inconsequential however
this cannot lawfully be taken into account when determining whether or not to
make a Definitive Map Modification Order.

6 WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING
EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE
PARENTING):

6.1 The Order if made will neither positively nor negatively impact on the well-
being goals or the sustainable development principals. Licencing & Regulatory
Agenda item 1, 19" July 2016 (Appendix 4).

7 CONSULTEES:
Corporate Management Team, Rights of Way Advisory Panel Members (Licensing
and Regulatory Committee), Select Committee Chairmen, Cabinet Members,
Local Member, Head of Finance and Head of Legal Services

8 RESULTS OF CONSULTATION:
No objections received.

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS
Modification Order Plan (Appendix 1)
Decision from Rights of Way Advisory Panel (Licencing & Regulatory)held 19™
July 2016 (Appendix 2)
Robin Carr Associates Report and appendixes (Appendix 3)
Wellbeing and Future Generations Report (Appendix 4)
Additional Appendices (Link to Special Licensing Committee 9th July 2016

10 AUTHOR
Paul Keeble
Group Engineer (Highway & Flood Manager)
11 CONTACT DETAILS
E-mail: paulkeeble@monmouthshire.gov.uk
Telephone: 01633 644733

Page 2



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
REPORT

SUBJECT:  DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER (DMMO)
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 SECTION 53
(3)(C)(i): FOR A RESTRICTED BY-WAY 53-16 TO BE ADDED
TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP & STATEMENT OF PUBLIC
RIGHTS OF WAY

DIRECTORATE: Operations (Chief Executives)

MEETING: LICENCING & REGULATORY COMMITTEE - RIGHTS OF WAY
ADVISORY PANEL
DATE: 19t July 2016

DIVISIONS/WARDS AFFECTED: Devauden

1. PURPOSE
To consider, under the above legislation if the route shown on the attached map
in Appendix 1 should be added to the Definitive Map and Statement.

The Authority is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity and must reach a decision
based on the evidence presented. We are not required to resolve conflicts in
the evidence and there may well be evidence on both sides of the issue. We
must weigh up the evidence using the test of the “balance of probabilities”,
and, if on this balance it is reasonable to conclude that the evidence shows
that change should be made, we must do so. Although officers have
considered the evidence, and made a recommendation based on their
appraisal, members must themselves consider the evidence and reach their
own conclusions. If a modification order is to be made anyone has a right to
object. The matter would then be determined by the Planning Inspectorate for
Wales.

2. RECOMMENDATION
That the Rights of Way Advisory Panel advise the Cabinet Member for
Community Development to make a Modification Order (under Section
53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add to the Definitive
Map and Statement a restricted byway, from point A to J shown on the
attached map in Appendix 1, and to seek confirmation of the order. The
details of the case are included in the Reports Appendix 2.

3. KEY ISSUES

A number of routes in the Monmouthshire County Council area have been
recorded on Highway Authority records as Unclassified County Roads, but
were subsequently struck off these records for reasons which have not yet
been determined. As a result of this there is some ambiguity over their status.
Additionally these routes would now be subject to the Natural Environment
and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act). This removes vehicular status
unless one of the conditions in the act apply.

The status of one such route (Route 53-16) in the Devauden area has been
the subject of an ongoing dispute for some years and has been added back to
the List of Streets. The List of Streets is not regulated at the current time by
any process which allows for challenge and this led to an ombudsman

Page 3




complain by the landowner. The ombudsman was satisfied that the Council
would reconsider the issue via the Definitive MAP Modification process.

The Highway Authority therefore appointed Robin Car Associates to
undertake the necessary investigations and consultation with a view to
producing an advisory report to assist them in determining whether or not the
route should be added to the Definitive Map. A copy of this report and bundle
of supporting evidence form the background papers to this report and are
shown in Appendix 2.

The evidence includes historical documents, no witness statements and no
evidence forms. Two public consultations have been carried out including a
public participation meeting and the comments received are shown within the
bundle as part of the supporting evidence.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

There are a number of historical documents that when taken together argues
that, on the balance of probabilities, C53-16 should be recorded as a
restricted byway.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

The Council are legally obliged to make a Definitive Map Modification Order if
public highway rights are reasonably alleged to subsist. Such Orders must be
advertised in the local press and if objections are received, and not
subsequently withdrawn, the Order must be referred to the Welsh Assembly
Government/Planning Inspectorate for determination, and may lead to a local
public inquiry.

The Resource implications of this procedure is not inconsequential however
this cannot lawfully be taken into account when determining whether or not to
make a Definitive Map Modification Order.

CONSULTEES

Corporate Management team, all select Committee Chairman

Head of legal service, Head of Finance, Head of Operations, Licensing and
Regulatory Committee Members

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appendix 1 —Location Plan

Appendix 2 - Report and document bundle produced by Robin Carr
Associates.

AUTHOR
Paul Keeble
Traffic & Network Manager

CONTACT DETAILS

E-mail: paulkeeble@monmouthshire.gov.uk
Telephone: 01633 644733

Page 4



G abed

Gl

monmouthshire
A AVARAYA

Name of the Officer
Paul Keeble

Phone no: 01633 644733

E-mail: paulkeeble@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal

To determine the status of the ¢53-16 which is recorded as an Unclassified
County Road but was subsequently struck off the highway records for reasons
which have not yet been determined. As a result of this action it is necessary to
investigate and resolve to remove the ambiguity over the status of the route.

Name of Service: Highways, Operations Division Date Future Generations Evaluation form completed

29t June 2016

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and
sustainable development principles include: Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan,
Local Development Plan, People Strategy, Asset Management Plan, Green Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language

Standards, etc

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below? Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you
expect, together with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.

Does the proposal contribute to this What actions have been/will be taken to
Well Being Goal goal? Describe the positive and negative mitigate any negative impacts or better
impacts. contribute to positive impacts?
A prosperous Wales Neutral N/A
Efficient use of resources, skilled,
educated people, generates wealth,




9 abed

Well Being Goal

Does the proposal contribute to this
goal? Describe the positive and negative
impacts.

What actions have been/will be taken to
mitigate any negative impacts or better

contribute to positive impacts?

provides jobs

A resilient Wales

Maintain and enhance biodiversity
and ecosystems that support
resilience and can adapt to change
(e.g. climate change)

Neutral

N/A

A healthier Wales

People’s physical and mental
wellbeing is maximized and health
impacts are understood

Confirming the status of this highway will
ensure that people are able enjoy walking
this route.

N/A

A Wales of cohesive communities
Communities are attractive, viable,
safe and well connected

Neutral

N/A

A globally responsible Wales
Taking account of impact on global
well-being when considering local
social, economic and environmental
wellbeing

Neutral

N/A

A Wales of vibrant culture and
thriving Welsh language

Culture, heritage and Welsh
language are promoted and
protected. People are encouraged
to do sport, art and recreation

Confirming the status of this highway will
ensure that people are able enjoy walking
this route.

N/A

A more equal Wales
People can fulfil their potential no

Neutral

N/A




) abed

Well Being Goal

Does the proposal contribute to this

impacts.

goal? Describe the positive and negative

What actions have been/will be taken to
mitigate any negative impacts or better
contribute to positive impacts?

matter what their background or
circumstances

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development?

Sustainable
Development Principle

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met
this principle? If yes, describe how. If not
explain why.

Are there any additional actions to be taken
to mitigate any negative impacts or better
contribute to positive impacts?

o0

Long Term

Balancing
short term
need with
long term
and
planning for
the future

N/A

P

Collaboration

Working
together
with other
partners to
deliver
objectives

N/A




g abed

Sustainable
Development Principle

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met
this principle? If yes, describe how. If not
explain why.

Are there any additional actions to be taken
to mitigate any negative impacts or better
contribute to positive impacts?

4

Involvement

Involving
those with
an
interest
and
seeking
their
views

The landowners and other interested parties have
been kept fully informed of the review of the status
and classification of this route including the sharing
of reports from specialist lawyers and more
recently an invitation to comment on the draft
investigation report including attendance at a
public meeting.

N/A

Prevention

Putting
resources
into
preventing
problems
occurring
or getting
worse

N/A

Integration

Considering impact on all

wellbeing goals together

and on other bodies

N/A




6 obed

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Please explain the
impact, the evidence you have used and any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected
characteristics, the Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Standards that apply to Monmouthshire Council please follow
this link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/Allitems.aspx or contact Alan Burkitt on 01633 644010 or

alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Describe any positive impacts your

Describe any negative impacts

What has been/will be done to

Protected proposal has on the protected your proposal has on the mitigate any negative impacts or
Characteristics characteristic protected characteristic better contribute to positive
impacts?
Age N/A
Disability N/A
Gender N/A
reassignment
Marriage or civil N/A
partnership
Pregnancy or N/A
maternity
Race N/A
Religion or Belief N/A
Sex N/A
Sexual Orientation N/A



http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk

0T obed

Protected
Characteristics

Describe any positive impacts your
proposal has on the protected
characteristic

Describe any negative impacts
your proposal has on the
protected characteristic

What has been/will be done to
mitigate any negative impacts or
better contribute to positive
impacts?

Welsh Language

N/A

4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate
Parenting and safeguarding. Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities? For more information
please see the guidance http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safequarding%20Guidance.docx and for more on
Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting Strategy see
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx

Describe any positive impacts your
proposal has on safeguarding and
corporate parenting

Describe any negative impacts
your proposal has on safeguarding
and corporate parenting

What will you do/ have you done
to mitigate any negative impacts
or better contribute to positive
impacts?

Safeguarding

N/A

Corporate Parenting

N/A



http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx

TT obed

5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?

The review of C53-16 has involved a detail study and review of all available information and the employment of a specialist Rights of Way Consultants to
compile the detailed investigation and consultation report as attached.

6. SUMMARY: As aresult of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal,
how have they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future?

This report seeks to clarify the status of the route as a restricted byway under section 53 (3)(c) (i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and to the

Definitive Map and Statement.

7. ACTIONS: As aresult of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them

below, if applicable.

What are you going to do

When are you going to do it?

Who is responsible

Progress

Add c53-16 to the Definitive Map
and Statement

After Cabinet Member approval

Paul Keeble

TBA




2T obed

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which
you will evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:

9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making,
and then honed and refined throughout the decision making process. It is important to keep a record of this process
so that we can demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible.

Version | Decision making stage
No.

Date considered

Brief description of any amendments made following
consideration




Page 13



T abed

Plantation z
¥ V.
e, B _ ; 0
A i patl ke
: A\ e \ v
v A W el v Proposed Restricted 4! 7
. SN 2 ' ump
o~ 4 \ + Byway(83-16) % Brake
A B, 4 X Little Wenallt
nny Bank ¥ Bryncethyn ‘3 X 5 Spes = Wood
Farm J Plantation  *{N\i7am / \ =
| X N e L/ . A&, Pah 4
Iy v N S C * 3 & S
= = - i FP184 = = :
Gy \ & "4 " FP183 Sl B g\, e wenalle
3 == N 4
" "Bryncethyn By S S 2
lookedbillets Plantation 3 x A Cloy A
¥ 4 2 W 'Y 1 [ S N
248, : 3 \ =
m \
RN X \
= = )¢
p FP180 Ll p————
toria < - podod X Panta ==
tage - LN, e =\ Grange 2 \
; 5 ; 3 139m Ta7m
~ 5| e 1
Path =" < _ .'Es o : Little L =) Millfield .
| S % el 138m
Fhe Billets \ g i Lot~ RE ” B e, ) 143m
= Nightingale * . t {7 Proposed Restric! i
Cottage v (i é ‘Byway (53:16) ==}
A 4 ‘4 3 . 4 =
4 '- % 3 ) Spr k.
u / N 5
4 . 4 p’ \": f TP o S
4 i Pantawarren 4 ¥
= Beech ! i Plantation H DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION
Cott. 1 .
o ottage ) :'2 A v 7\~K¢ N \\,.;:?\ ORDER 2016
4 W % . AT AL .
DATY 4 " 4 i D g FP188 ’A‘* e - g Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife & Countryside
: ; Ny B 9 Act 1981
reigau 1 A " ' FP191 71.\159;,.
3 & £ A s " . .
2 & » Monmouthshire County Council
criga S o\ = e A 4 t Devauden Community, Great Panta
5 3 5 \ Pl
R 0 / R
len oy 4 it 1 Proposed Restricted Byway (53-16):
0 & X
,\cé:" Coedyy“Awel 2 ," 53-11  yock < A,B,C,D,EF, G_’Udy_v_v_
249m < F 4 — » | Greenwood
i J 53-18 u Barn NG,
PW | G X > ¥
s
T ‘3,. . ' Green 2
277m \Y. . = Proposed Restricted Wood™ Unaffected Footpaths:
e Byway (53-16) = S o TTrTTTTT T T
c i oS - ~~ ==~ Lower;
‘ #O, 2 / = by 1| Unaffected Restricted Byways:
| 23 a ©\TheTrees Surny ‘%' Woodside e e S S S
|Barev WAL > Bank et — Lower Spr | 5 =
< 2. Sh= : Fedw Lower L Existing Highways:
3 B S 2 < edw
S:rcus - - o Sinks Spr
| 5 ood: & it Ta4m . ST ;
: : A - s SEERE - | Scale 1:6000 at A3
. a6 House GR: ST492995
(; 4 % 2 % 1 ' [Reproduced from an Ordnance Survey monmouthshire
s | P 2 : : o 1 P = e SEN G phmieaon o e Ay
| il -ontroller rown Coj L
| Compiled on 7 July 2016 Licence number 100023415 (2018)

Appendix 1




GT obed

Appendix 2




This page is intentionally left blank



P :
7] X‘{) 3 A
"Clydach~y 447
Teadsant) (

v,
o fiDevauden

&

fogd, s Fxp?
;- ;\\ﬁ'\\!* 7/ /i

I\ Wle¥ 1z
et W8 A A
T R s et

Hale;
Wood IHiq*

DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION
ORDER 2016

Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981

Monmouthshire County Council
Devauden Community, Great Panta

Proposed Restricted Byway (53-16):
A,B,C,D,E, F, G, ﬁ, JY

—_— e N\ —\ —

Unaffected Footpaths:

Unaffected Restricted Byways:
—_N =N —N—\—

Existing Highways:

Scale 1:6000 at A3
GR: ST492995

Plantation 5
Spr ;
i
P A
- \
L4 A %123
. A Eppq77A
Zo ~
“904 P T
N ‘o
W \(5' ¢
A
\\\ \\
W \
- o 1
Proposed Restricted R N T
oz Byway (53-16) e
P~ \’," . Brake
- I
T \ ’ 4 Little Wenallt
mlrzly Bl Bryncethyn ° s See Wood
cln Plantation \ :
<2 " 2  ehath R .
1 C % W& S
- Py g Fr1se = K
2 -, % N Little Wenallt
3 o)
ot Q,’ : FP183 CAN Wood
/ I, S = \
Hep Yo A
N ‘Gé = =
&
248m ,- = A \ 4
\
= 15
g FP180
. N
tc;rg'; X\ 177m it Panta
l 3 ed Q7 "Track :J: 146m Q\ | Grange 2
A E ,,,/ FP182 N E“F 139m 137m
-~ ] P 47 e = —— 7 -
) 9, Patp -~ El £ 4 Little Panta T;f’_ SSS R =7, e Millfield .
< ~4 1. Barn =7 .7 v 138m
he Billets \\ & paf/) . __r;t !/,(/ . 143m - - _ll = ': 143m
3 . ™ oo oo /
= Nightingale 1 f(~ Proposed Restricted "
Cottage - | i
y ¢ iy\pg /Byway s m—
| - \
1
\ ‘l‘ 7 \; Spr \\\
\ i ! R
[0 Y, ] X
I Pantawarren b
. X?‘ Beeeh g Plantation g W
Cottage i 4 )'l:. 3
274m i \2, >
% (o
= ; : G FP188 2
; , \y &
. I M\ Q
reigay i FP191 T t69m
\\‘:‘ o “‘\
]
; - The Iy
Criga \ o Nest Iy d 9
N ’
/ \' ,/
\Glenmora 0 s / 1427
W
8} o /
fE \ )Y 5311 S
G Coed;y-Awel ; ’%f L Track e X
& F g = / ! Greenwood
53-18 : “ Barn %
C,
\ : &
\ \
\ S \ Green
%% Proposed Restri¢ted S e,
\ B 53-16 —es S
\ Byway (53-16) D SR A (b=
-~ path g i
e T pat -~~_--""
— —
T~ — AN g —
<
) Woodside
% H Lower Spr
Pp Ho Fedw Lower
St Fedw
=
Percus " d Sink Spr
Wood 3 T -2 1aam 3 . ST S
Yeovil - : 0 ~ -
Spr House S
. L =
Compiled on 7 July 2016

Reproduced from an Ordnance Survey
map with the permission of the
Controller of HMSO © Crown Copyright.
Licence number 100023415 (2015)

A .
monmouthshire

sir fynwy




This page is intentionally left blank



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

ROBIN CARR ASSOCIATES

Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Investigation into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Community of: Devauden
Route: 53-16

Client: Monmouthshire County Council

1.0
1.1

1.2

20

2.1

2.2

Introduction

My name is Robin Carr. | am an independent consultant, specialising in Public Rights of Way
and Highway matters. | am a Fellow of the Institute of Public Rights of Way & Access
Management (IPROW), a Member of the Institute of Sports, Parks and Leisure (ISPAL) and a

Registered Expert Witness and | hold a Certificate in Leisure Management.

My experience is based, most generally, on an expertise that has been developed over a

twenty-four year period as a Public Rights of Way practitioner.

Instructions

| am instructed by Paul Keeble Traffic and Network Manager, of Monmouthshire County

Council, Highways, County Operations, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk NP15 1GA.

My instructions are to:

a) investigate the status of the lane highlighted on Plan 1 attached to this report (this plan
is also included in Appendix 1 of the document bundle attached to this report);

b) carryoutsuch consultations and site visits/meeting as deemed necessary in connection
with the above;

c) produce an advisory report for the County Council in order to assist them in making a
decision whether or not the route in question should be added to the Definitive Map
and statement of Public rights of Way (hereafter referred to collectively as “the

Definitive Map”); and

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 19 Page | 1



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

2.3

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

d) if the route is determined to be a highway whether or not it is maintainable at public

expense

Site Visit and Documents Consulted

As part of my investigation and in accordance with my instructions | have conducted a site
inspection. This was undertaken on Tuesday 16" December 2014 and | was accompanied by

my wife and the land owners.

A substantial proportion of the route clearly has not been passable for some considerable time,
it being substantially overgrown. It would however appear to be a route of some antiquity with

a number of sections of the route having the physical form of a sunken lane or Holloway.

| have had sight of a range of documents obtained from a number of different sources. A list of
documents | have consulted in the compilation of my report is attached as Appendix 2. It should
be noted that not all of these documents were found to be relevant to my investigation and
only those which are relevant have been included in the document bundle accompanying this

report.

| have also been instructed to investigate the status of two other routes (Route53-11/53-18
and Route 53-19) in the immediate vicinity of the route that is the subject of this report (Route
53-16). This arises, in part, from a request made by the owners of the land crossed by Route
53-16, as well as being a time/cost effective working practice. The bundle attached to this

report is therefore also relevant to my reports into the status of these other two routes.

Matters which are not relevant to my Investigation

As set out above my instructions are to undertake the necessary investigations etc and to
produce an advisory report to assist the County Council to determine whether or not to add
the route under investigation to the Definitive Map. If the route is to be added this would be

achieved by making a legal order known as a Definitive Map Modification Order.

Definitive Map Modification Orders do not extinguish, create or divert public rights of way, they
only modify the legal record (the Definitive Map) to reflect the existing situation. It therefore

follows that if Route 53-16 was to be added to the Definitive Map the corresponding Definitive

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 20 Page | 2



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

2.9

2.10

2.11

3.0
31

3.2

Map Modification Order would not create any new rights, it would only seek to record those

that, as a matter of evidence, have been demonstrated to already exist.

In view of the above, and whilst they may be matters of genuine concern, issues such a
desirability, suitability, need, future maintenance, privacy, security and even public safety are

not matters that can be lawfully taken into consideration.

On a number of occasions during my investigations issues and concerns have been raised
regarding various procedural matters and the conduct of the County Council etc in this matter
have been raised. These are not matters that relate to the status of the route under

investigation, and as such they will not be taken into consideration as part of my findings.

| am also aware that there have been a number of previous reports, opinions, decisions and
submissions made by both the County Council and other parties in respect of this matter. Whilst
not obliged to do so, but in keeping with my role as an expert witness, | have prepared this
report in keeping with the principles of the Civil Procedure Rules. As such the opinions | have
expressed represent my true and complete professional opinions on the matters to which they

refer, and | have not been influenced by the opinions of the third parties.

Understanding of the Background to the Case
For the purposes of the Highways Act 1980 Monmouthshire County Council are the Highway
Authority for their area. They are also the Surveying Authority in respect of maintaining the

Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for their area.

In 2003 a resident of Devauden made enquiries with the County Council regarding the status
of Route 53-16. Officers of the County Council subsequently sought to determine the status of
the route and then in June 2008 the Council were served notice under Section 56 of the
Highways Act 1980 requiring them respond on the matters of whether a) the route was a
highway maintainable at public expense and b) whether it was out of repair. At this time the
route was not recorded on either the List of Streets Maintainable at Public Expense (the List of

Streets) or the Definitive Map.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 21 Page [ 3



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

33

34

35

3.6

It would appear that this resulted in proposals that the route be added to the Highway
Authority’s List of Streets Maintainable at Public Expense, however the issue seems to have
continued to be considered and discussed with various parties resulting in a report being
produced by Council Officers in November 2010. From this report the Authority confirmed its

position that it believed that Route 53-16 was a highway maintainable at public expense.

Whilst the matter of the status of Route 53-16 appears to have been determined the issue of
its state of repair still remained outstanding and as a result of this in October 2011 a further
Notice under the provisions of Section 56 of the Highways Act 1980 was served on the County
Council. The Council were advised that if the road was not repaired then application would be
made to the Magistrate’s Court seeking an order/direction that the required works be carried
out within a specified period. The Council were subsequently required to attend Court in March
2012, however an agreement/compromise was reached resulting in the case not having to be

heard.

Route 53-16 is currently recorded on the List of Streets with reference to its status being a
Restricted Byway. The owners of the land crossed by Route 53-16 have had a level of
involvement in parts of these proceedings, but the addition of a route to the List of Streets is
not regulated by any process which allows for challenge (other than Judicial Review). Feeling
aggrieved by this they made a complaint to the Ombudsman in February 2014. The
Ombudsman sought clarification on a number of matters from the County Council on their
behalf and closed the file on the matter at the end of March 2014 being satisfied that the
County Council were prepared to reconsider the issue via the Definitive Map Modification

Order process.

The decision to make a Definitive Map Modification Order is quasi-judicial in nature and
therefore must be made based upon matters of evidence rather than a simple commitment to
do so made to the Ombudsman. In view of the dissatisfaction expressed by the land owners
over the decision making processes employed so far in this case the Council decided to
commission an independent investigation and assessment of the evidence to assist in their

decision making process.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 22 Page | 4



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

3.7

4.0
4.1

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

Robin Carr of Robin Carr Associates Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services
was ask to tender for this work, and was subsequently awarded the contract to undertake the

commission.

Legislative Context
Within the scope of my instructions | have been asked to provide guidance to assist the
Authority in making their decision whether or not they should promote a Definitive Map

Modification Order in respect of the route under investigation.
In order to address this matter it is necessary to consider issues surrounding how highways
come into being. | have therefore set out within this section of the report my understanding of

the general principles that apply to these matters.

Public Rights of Way - General

Footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways and byways open to all traffic, often referred to as
public rights of way, are public highways. A highway is a way over which the public have a right
to pass and re-pass. Not all highways are maintainable at public expense, nor is there any need
for a way to have been “adopted” before it is either a highway or a highway ‘maintainable at

public expense.

Whilst topographical features may be attributed to, or provide evidence of, the existence of a
public highway, the public right itself is not a physical entity, it is the right to pass and re-pass

over (usually) private land.

Once a highway has come into being, no amount of non-user can result in the right ceasing to

n1

exist. The legal principal of “Once Highway, Always a Highway”* applies. Such rights, except in
very limited circumstances, can only be changed by way of certain legal proceedings either by

way of local authority administrative order or a Court Order.

T Harvey v Truro Rural District Council (1903) 2 Ch 638 & Dawes v Hawkins (1860) 8 CB (NS) 848, 141 ER 1399

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 23 Page | 5



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

Types of Highway

As mentioned above, a highway is a way over which the public have a right to pass and re-pass.
The nature and extent of the right (i.e. who may use it) is dependent upon the specific type of

highway status attributed to a route.

Common Law
Under the common law there were, and indeed still are, only three types of highway. These
are:

e Footpaths,
e Bridleways; and,
e (Carriageways

The right to pass and re-pass on a public footpath is restricted to pedestrians with usual

accompaniments (e.g. a pushchair).

The right to pass and re-pass on a public bridleway is restricted to pedestrians, horse riders

(including people leading horses) and possibly the right to drive cattle.

The right to pass and re-pass on a public carriageway is open to all traffic, namely pedestrians,
horse riders (including people leading horses), non-mechanically propelled and mechanically

propelled vehicles.

Statute

Over time the legislature has brought into effect various statutes which restrict or extend the
extent of use on certain types of highway. For instance under the provisions of the Countryside
Act 1968 cyclists are granted a right to use bridleways. Other legislation provides for Public
Carriageways to be subdivide into various categories which include, motorways, cycle tracks,

restricted byways and byways open to all traffic.

When determining the status of a specific route one must first consider the common law
situation and then apply any necessary restrictions to status imposed by statute in respect of
restricted byways and byways open to all traffic (e.g. the effects of the Natural Environment
and Rural Communities Act 2006 (discussed below)). Motorways and cycle tracks can only be

created by statutory order and are therefore not under consideration in this case.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 24 Page | 6



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

Establishment of Highways

Dedication and Acceptance

Subject to a small number of exceptions, before any highway over land can come into being
there must be an act of dedication by the landowner followed by the acceptance of the strip of
land as a highway by the public, usually (but not always) demonstrated by the public using the
way. Itisimportant to note that a highway is a specific linear corridor of land and that there is
no general right to wander at will over land (excepting that provided by the Countryside and

Rights of Way Act 2000, which does not apply in this instance).

The act of dedication may be express, or implied depending upon the actions or inactions of
the land owner. Acceptance is usually demonstrated by public user, however acceptance of a
way as a highway by the Highway Authority my also suffice. The principles of how rights can

come into being are further discussed in more detail below:

Statute

It is possible for highways to be created as a result of statutory processes such as enclosure
awards, or in more modern times various types of statutory creation order or agreement. Such
processes invariably result in the production of a range of documents confirming their effect

as well as the grounds upon which they have been made.

The Highways Act 1980, Section 31 has also, to a certain extent, codified the common law
(discussed below) by identifying a specific set of circumstance whereby a presumption of
dedication may arise. One of these circumstance is the requirement that the way in question
must be used for a full period of twenty years, with such use being further qualified as having
to be “as of right” and “without interruption”. There is no suggestion in this case that rights
have come into being as a result of modern user therefore | do not propose to discuss the detail

of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 in further detail.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 25 Page | 7



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

4.17

4.18

4.19

Common Law

The establishment of highway rights under the common law is not bound by the “20 year rule”
discussed above, and it is understood that the Courts have clarified? that rights can be
established in a very short period of time. It may therefore be helpful to look at this area in

more detail.

Halsbury® states — “Both dedication by the owner and user by the public must occur to create a
highway otherwise than by statute. User by the public is a sufficient acceptance. And - An
intention to dedicate land as a highway may only be inferred against a person who was at the
material time in a position to make an effective dedication, that is, as a rule, a person who is
absolute owner in fee simple; and At common law, the question of dedication is one of fact to
be determined from the evidence. User by the public is no more than evidence, and is not
conclusive evidence ... any presumption raised by that user may be rebutted. Where there is
satisfactory evidence of user by the public, dedication may be inferred even though there is no
evidence to show who was the owner at the time or that he had the capacity to dedicate. The
onus of proving that there was no one who could have dedicated the way lies on the person who

denies the alleged dedication”.

It is my understanding that the inference of dedication may arise in three ways:

i) First, the inference may arise from the fact that the owner has done exactly what one
would expect from any owner who intended to dedicate a new highway (e.g. express
dedication). For example* where a new bridge which was constructed by a railway
company, and the bridge was subsequently used by the public freely from the time it
was completed, it was concluded that the way had been dedicated as a carriageway at

a point when the bridge had been in use for only 18 months.

ii) Second, the inference has been drawn mainly from evidence that the way was already
recognised as being a highway by the start of the period covered by living memory,

coupled with the absence of anything to show that the public recognition was misplaced.

2 North London Railway Co v Vestry of St Mary, Islington (1872) 27 L.T. 672 — Dedication was found to have occurred within an 18 month

period

3 Halsbury’s Laws of England (Volume 55 ‘Highways’)
4 North London Railway Co v Vestry of St Mary, Islington (1872) 27 L.T. 672

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 26 Page | &



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

In this class of case the common law approach simply recognises that the facts all point
one way, and that it is immaterial that the claimant cannot identify the early owners or

show the actual date when dedication was likely to have occurred®.

iii) Third, a dedication may be inferred from use and enjoyment by the public as of right,
known by the owner and acquiesced in by him. The owner’s recognition of the fact that
the publicis using the way as a highway may itself be a matter for inference, rather than
clearly proven fact®.

It is the second of these options that will most likely apply in this case.

Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006

Section 67(1) of the Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006 extinguished, on
commencement, public motor vehicular rights over every highway that is not already shown
on the definitive map and statement, or is there shown as a footpath, bridleway, or restricted
byway. In effect this means that public rights of way for mechanically propelled vehicles have
been extinguished over every highway not already shown on the definitive map and statement

as a byway open to all traffic.

In the absence of further qualification this provision would extinguish public rights of way for
mechanically propelled vehicles over virtually the whole of the existing highway network. But
subsection 67(2) introduces a series of exceptions to protect certain highways from such
extinguishment under subsection 67(1). Any way that qualifies under any one, or more, of
these exceptions would not have its public rights of way for mechanically propelled vehicles

extinguished.

Because clause 67(1) explicitly extinguishes public motor vehicular rights over every highway
that was not shown on 2nd May 2006 [in England] on the definitive map and statement as a
byway open to all traffic, there is a clear presumption that this will be the case unless it can be
shown that one (or more) of the five exceptions in subsections 67(2) or the transitional

arrangements in subsection 67(3) apply.

5See e.g. Williams Ellis v Cobb [1935] 1 KB 310 (CA)
6 See e.g. Parker J in Webb v Baldwin and others (1911) 75 JP 564 at p565

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 27 Page | 3



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

4.24

4.25

4.26

A summary of the five exceptions

The five exceptions may be summarised as follows:

Subsection 67(2)(a) excepts ways that have been lawfully used more by motor vehicles
than by other users, e.g. walkers, cyclists, horse riders and horse-drawn vehicles, in the
five years preceding commencement. The intention here is to except highways that are
part of the ‘ordinary roads network’.

Subsection 67(2)(b) excepts ways that are both recorded on the “list of streets” as
being maintainable at public expense and are not recorded on the definitive map and
statement as rights of way. This is to exempt roads that do not have clear motor
vehicular rights by virtue of official classification but are generally regarded as being
part of the ‘ordinary roads network’.

Subsection 67(2)(c)excepts ways that have been expressly created or constructed for
motor vehicles.

Subsection 67(2)(d) excepts ways that have been created by the construction of a road
intended to be used by mechanically propelled vehicles.

Subsection 67(2)(e)excepts from extinguishment ways that had been in long use by
mechanically propelled vehicles before 1930, when it first became an offence to drive

‘off-road’.

Section 67(4) of the 2006 Act provides that where a public vehicular right existed, but has now

been extinguished by virtue of the provisions of the Act, a private right of way is retained,

whether previously used or not.

Modifying the Definitive Map — Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

For the purposes of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Monmouthshire

County Council are the Surveying Authority and have a duty to ensure that the Definitive Map

and Statement are properly maintained by way of a process of continuous review. This means

that when they discover evidence that suggests the legal record needs to be amended/updated

they should promote a Definitive Map Modification Order to effect the required change.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 28 Page | 10



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

4.27

4.28

4.29

In particular Section 53 (3)(c) requires that an Order made upon the discovery by the authority

of evidence which (when considered with all other relevant evidence available to them)

shows—

(i)

(iii)

that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is
reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates,
being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is a public

path, a restricted byway or, subject to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic;

that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a particular

description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description; or

that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map and statement
as a highway of any description, or any other particulars contained in the map

and statement require modification.

Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980

Section 32 of the Highway Act 1980 which states:

A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not been

dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if any, took
place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality or
other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such
weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified by the circumstances,
including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of the person by
whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the custody in

which it has been kept and from which it is produced.

Standard of Proof

With regard to the standard of proof, it should be noted that an Order must made under

Section 53(3)(c)(i) if there is a reasonable allegation in favour of the existence of public rights.

Such an Order can however, only be confirmed if, on the balance of probability, the alleged

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 29 Page | 11



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

4.30

431

5.0
51

5.2

53

rights can be shown to subsist. The test for making an Order therefore differs from the test for

confirmation’.

For an Order to be made under Section 53(3)(c)(ii) (iii) the standard of proof for both making

and confirmation is on the balance of probability

If the above tests appear to be satisfied, yet there is a conflict of credible evidence, which

cannot be reconciled, the Authority is also obliged to make an Order®.

Consultations

As part of the investigation into the status of Route 53-16 a range of user representative groups,
the Community Council, land owners and adjoining landowners have been consulted and
offered the opportunity to submit relevant evidence for consideration. Notices were also
posted at convenient points on the route to advise of the consultation exercise and
investigation. Information was also placed on the Community Council website and | attended a

Community Council meeting on 26" January 2015.

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence are included in the bundle
attached to this report under Appendix 26. Any relevant evidence that was submitted is

discussed later within the report and included in separate appendices.

A further consultation exercise was undertaken following the completion of my investigations
in order to allow a further opportunity for the submission of relevant documents/evidence.

Copies of responses received are included in the document bundle at Appendix 27.

7Todd & Bradley v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs [2004] EWHC 1450 (Admin)
8 R v Secretary of State for Wales Ex p Emery [1998] 4 All E.R. 367

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 30 Page | 12



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

6.0
6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

Summary Description of Available Evidence
In this section of my report | have sought to objectively set out what each document, as a
matter of fact, shows. Matters of interpretation are dealt with in the follows sections of the

report.

Eighteenth and Nineteenth Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)

Cary’s map (1805), Teesdale’s map (1829) and Moule’s map (1848) do not show the route.

Price’s map (1823) and the David and Charles map (1830) show the route as a continuous road

through to Trelleck Grange.

Greenwood’s map (1830) shows the southern section of the route as far north as the junction
with the track to Panta Farm. It also shows a continuation to Trelleck Grange but the middle
section between the junction with the track to Panta Farm (to the south) and Parish Boundary

(to the north) is not shown.

Hall’'s map (1831) and the Gray & Son map (1840) shows the route running through to Trelleck

Grange but the southern section to the south of routes 53-18/53-11 is not shown

Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)

Two copies of the Tithe Map for the area have been consulted. The first is located at the Gwent
records Office, the second at the National Archives in Kew. Digital images of both documents
have been consulted and both show the route under investigation. Neither show the route

shaded in any colour.

Ordnance Survey Maps (Appendix 5)

The 1833 first Edition 1 inch Ordnance Survey Map shows the route as a continuous road

running north to Trelleck Grange.

The 1881, 1901 and 1920/1 Ordnance Survey 25 inch County Series maps show the route as a
road or lane with boundaries each side running northwards past Panta Barn, and then as an
unbounded path or track. The 1886 Ordnance Survey 6 inch County Series Map shows the

same.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 31 Page | 13



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

1910 Finance Act Records (Appendix 6)

The 1910 Finance Act maps show the section of the route running south from its junction with
routes 53-18 and 53-11 as being excluded from valuation. The route running north to Trelleck
Grange is included within Hereditament Nos 225 and 324. Deductions of £20 and £5

respectively are claimed in respect of public rights of way across the land.

Highway Authority Maps/Records (Appendices 7 — 14)

The 1949 Highway Record Map (Appendix 7) shows the route in purple with the reference
number 53-16. A small section at the southern end appears not to be shown. The purple line

has been crossed out with the word “out” next to it.

The 1952 Highway Record Map (Reproduced and Updated 1987) (Appendix 8) is a composite
map showing both publically maintainable roads and public rights of way. The route has not

been marked onto the Ordnance Survey base map as being a highway of any description.

The 1955 Highway Record Map (Appendix 9) shows the route by a solid black line with the
reference number 53-16. A small section at the southern end appears not to be shown. The
black line has been crossed out in respect of the section running northwards from route 53-18
and 53-11. There is evidence of post 1955 amendments to this record set by reference to route

53-19in 1960 and the restoration of route 53-11 to the record in 1993.

An undated hand written schedule of highways (Appendix 10) refers to route 53-16 calling it
“Great Panta Road” stating that it is “not maintained at all” and refers the reader to “See
‘Schedule of Amendments’ Div. 2”. This schedule does not contain a complete list of all

highways.

An undated extract of a list of highways in Division 2 (Appendix 11) appears to have included

route 53-16 but it has been scored/crossed out.

A list of unclassified roads which appears to be from a file of highway returns to Central
Government and believed to originate circa 1970 (Appendix 12) includes the road but it has

been crossed out.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 32 Page | 14



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

6.16

6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

A set of undated highway maps using a 1921 Ordnance Survey 25 inch County Series base map,
but believed by the Highway Authority to have been compiled circa 1974 (Appendix 13) shows
the route shaded brown and annotated 53-16. The route has then been crossed out and

annotated “out” and “See schedule of amendments”

A further set of undated highway maps, using metric series Ordnance Survey base maps, and
believed by the Highway Authority to have been compiled circa 2008 (Appendix 14) show the
route shaded pink and annotated C53-16. These maps are understood to be an interpretation

of the 2008 List of Streets discussed below.

List of Streets (Appendix 15)

The 1988 version of the Highway Authority’s List of Streets Maintainable at Public Expense does
not include route 53-16. A version of the List of Streets dated 2008 does include the route, but
the entry detail is incomplete. A supplementary sheet appended to the current List of Streets

includes route 53-16 showing a last date of amendment to that specific record as 16 May 2012.

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)

The route is not recorded on either the Draft or Definitive Maps for the area, however a number
of public footpaths were claimed and are subsequently recorded as terminating on, or running
immediately adjacent to the route. The Statements that accompany the Draft and Definitive

Maps which relate to these footpaths refer to route 53-16 as a County Road.
The “Additions and Deletions Map” shows that no amendments were made that affect the
route between the Draft and Provisional Stages of productions of the Definitive Map. The

Provisional Map appears to have been relabelled as the Definitive Map during the process.

The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)

General correspondence relating to Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17) shows
that in addition to matters relating the general review and the reclassification of Roads Used as
Public Paths, the County Council were also considering the status of various unclassified road

and green lanes that were on their highway records.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 33 Page | 15



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

6.27

7.0

7.1

The Draft Map of the Special Review (appendix 18) records route 53-16 as a public footpath.
Associated correspondence suggests that it was being added at this time because when the

original Definitive Map was produced it was thought to have been a County Road.

1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

A number of extracts from some sales particulars which are understood to relate to the sale of
the Trelleck Grange Estate circa 1920 have been provided by the land owners. The extracts

relate to the sale of a number of land holdings, some of which refer to roadside frontages etc.

The preamble to the sale particulars under “Remarks and Stipulations: 1. Situation” remarks
that the estate “.....is intersected by many good parish roads”. At point 3 the farms are
described as having “....good frontages to parish roads”. The specific entry for “the Panta Farm”

does not however refer to any roadside frontage.

A description of the land parcels (referenced to the 1920 OS Map — Appendix 5) lists parcels 24,
142 and 145 which correspond with Route 53-16 as a Road. Parcels 280 and 281 which
correspond with the track running from Route 53-16 past Little Panta are listed as a Lane and

Parcel 273 which is the road/lane running east from Little Panta is described as a Road.

Documents relating to the purchase of Panta Farm in 1977 (Appendix 20)

A map showing the boundary of Panta Farm edged in red and which | understand is connected
to the purchase of Panta Farm in 1977 has been provided by the land owners. The route under
in investigation is included within the land holding. Route 53-18/53-11 is not included within
the land holding.

Various property deeds have also been submitted which clearly show that Route 53-16 is part
of the land holding and was sold with the surrounding land. The schedules included in the deeds
refer to Route 53-16 as a Track and the access road to Little Panta as a Driveway. There also

appears to be a private right of way/easement over parts of Route 53-16 for forestry purposes.

General Comments and Interpretation of Documents

In this section of the report | have sought to set out matters relating to the interpretation of

individual documents and document types. | have also commented on the evidential value of

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 34 Page | 16



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

documents. A discussion on specific issues which may be of assistance in determining this

matter is included in the report at Section 8 below

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Orders: Consistency Guidelines

The Planning Inspectorate have produced a document entitled: “Definitive Map Orders:
Consistency Guidelines”. This is available for download on the Planning Inspectorate’s website.
Extracts of the document that may be of assistance in this particular case are included in the

bundle attached to this report under Appendices 21 — 24.

Other Published Articles

Two further articles published in the Institute of Public Rights of Way and Access Management’s

|I/

journal “Waymark” are included in the bundle at Appendix 26. The first of these provides a
concise overview of the history of highway authority records, the second provides an insight
into the problems associated with the management of highway authority records. Both articles
may be considered to be of assistance and relevant in determining issues relating to this

particular case.

Eighteenth and Nineteenth Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)

An extract from the Consistency Guidelines relating to these documents is included in the

bundle at Appendix 21.

Maps of this nature were generally produced as a commercial enterprise and therefore aimed
at the sort of people who would be likely to make use of them. This would, quite often be
reasonably well heeled members of society with the means to purchase the maps and also then
to use them for the purposes of travelling throughout the county to which they relate. It
therefore follows that the ways shown upon them may generally be considered to have been
available for their use, in other words they were public highways. As a result the showing of a
road on such maps is generally considered to be supportive of the existence of highway rights

and the more maps a way is shown on, the greater the evidential value of the document set.

In this particular case, a number of commercial maps show the route, and/or parts of the route,

and are indicative that historically it formed part of a through route running to Trelleck Grange.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 35 Page | 17



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.7

7.8

7.9

7.10

7.11

Overall in my opinion this document set is supportive of the proposition that the route is a

public highway.

Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)

An extract from the Consistency Guidelines relating to these documents is included in the

bundle at Appendix 23

Tithe maps and apportionments were produced as part of the process of transferring the
payment of tithe duties from material goods to a monetary payment. They were not particularly
interested in defining public highways unless they were likely to adversely affect the final
valuation of the land. As such it is possible to find reference to the existence and status of public
highways (of any description) in the documentation. Some areas of land, such as roads and
tracks, may be found to be colour washed in a shade of brown. Such colour washing indicates
that the land in question was not subject to tithe, or in other words it was not productive land,
it is not, as is sometimes suggested, necessarily indicative of a route being a public highway. It
was also possible for highways to be included within tithable land holdings by virtue of the fact

that the highway verges could be harvested for its herbage.

Notwithstanding the above, tithe maps do provide what is probably the most accurate large
scale mapping of its time, and as such it is of value in determining the existence of physical
features, which in turn may be of assistance in determining whether or not public highway
rights may exist. In this case the Tithe Map confirms the physical existence of the route but is

generally silent on the matter of status.

Ordnance Survey Maps (Appendix 5)

An extract from the Consistency Guidelines relating to these documents is included in the

bundle at Appendix 21.

It should be emphasised that the depiction of a way on an Ordnance Survey map is not, of itself,
evidence of a highway. Whilst it is understood that the courts have treated Ordnance Survey
maps as not being evidence of the status of a way, they are evidence as to what physically

existed at the time of survey.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 36 Page | 18



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.12

7.13

7.14

7.15

7.16

7.17

In this particular case the earliest edition of the Ordnance Survey, the 1833 first Edition 1 inch
map, shows the route as a continuous road running north to Trelleck Grange. This is consistent
with some of the earlier commercial maps discussed above, and would suggest that in the early
to mid-Nineteenth Century there was a though route of equal status throughout. This may

certainly dispel any suggestions that it was originally a cul-de-sac route.

The later Nineteenth Century and early Twentieth Century editions may suggest that the
northern section of the route had fallen into decline and was less of a prominent physical
feature in the landscape, being shown as a path or track, and later recorded on the Definitive
Map (Appendix 16) as a public footpath. The section of the route under investigation (Route
53-16) however remained a more prominent feature in the landscape and was shown as lane
with fixed boundaries. It does not, of course, automatically follow that its physical presence is

indicative of it enjoying some level of public highway status.

1910 Finance Act Records (Appendix 6)

An extract from the Consistency Guidelines relating to these documents is included in the

bundle at Appendix 24.

The 1910 Finance Act provided for the levying of tax (‘Increment Value Duty’) on the increase
in site value of land between its valuation as at 30 April 1909 and its subsequent sale or other
transfer. The valuation process allowed for deductions for, among other things, the amount by

which the value would be reduced if the land were subject to any public rights of way.

Evidence of the possible existence of a public right of way in Finance Act documentation usually
arises in one of two ways-
e reference to it in one or more of the various documents forming part of the
valuation process, (i.e. a deduction was claimed); or
e the exclusion of a route from the assessable parcels of land shown on the map
record.
Land under the control of a Rating Authority (which would include a Highway Authority) was
excluded from valuation, therefore the exclusion of a path track or way from valuation may be
considered very good evidence in support of the existence of public highway rights, but not

necessarily carriageway rights. There are certainly instances of footpaths and bridleway being

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 37 Page | 19



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.18

7.19

7.20

7.21

7.22

excluded form valuation, however in such instances the class of user is often determined by
the physical characteristics of the route (e.g. flights of steps etc making the route only available
to pedestrians). In this case the section of the route running south from its junction with routes
53-18 and 53-11 was excluded from valuation. This may be considered to be good evidence in

support of the existence of highway (and most probably public carriageway) rights.

The section of the route running northward towards Trelleck Grange is not excluded from the
valuation but is included in the surrounding land holdings (Hereditaments) with deductions of
£20 and £5 being claimed in respect of public rights of way. Other public rights of way are
known to exist within these land holdings (See Definitive Map — Appendix 16) therefore it is
impossible to determine which routes the deductions were claimed for. As a result it is difficult

to attribute this record set any great evidential value in respect of this section of Route 53-16.

The fact that one section of the route was excluded and the other was not may also have some
bearing in the interpretation and evidential value of these documents. It would certainly
suggest that the section of Route 53-16 that runs northwards from its junction with routes 53-
18 and 53-11 was considered to be of a different status to the section running south from this
junction. It may be that the different sections of the route enjoyed different statuses, or it may
be that they are of the same status but that the northern section had generally fallen into disuse
by this time and was no longer considered to enjoy such status. It is not possible to ascertain

this from this document set.

Highway Authority Maps/Records (Appendices 7 — 14)

An extract from the Consistency Guidelines relating to these documents is included in the

bundle at Appendix 24.

The “List of Streets” article included Appendix 25 of the bundle sets out a helpful summary of
the history of the “List of Streets” and associated documents. When interpreting these
documents it is important to ensure that they are afforded the appropriate level of evidential

value and their history and background is paramount to determining this.

There has been some suggestion that some of these documents represent nothing more that

the informal opinion of an unknown officer of the authority. | cannot agree with this

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 38 Page | 20



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.23

7.24

7.25

7.26

interpretation. They are a highway authority record, albeit a non-statutory one, and as such
they must be afforded a fair degree of evidential weight as they still represent the Highway

Authority’s views at that time.

The issue of why the route was removed from these records is of key importance to the
determination of this matter and the subject of discussion later within this report. In this section

of the report | have concentrated on more general matters of interpretation.

Prior to local government reorganisation in 1974 the parish/community of Devauden fell within
the former Chepstow Rural District Council area. Therefore when the 1949 (Appendix 7), 1952
(Appendix 8) and 1955 (Appendix 9) Highway Records were produced there was no statutory
requirement for the Highway Authority (the rural district council) to maintain a list of streets,
or for any such records that were produced to be available for public inspection. This will have

an effect on their overall evidential value.

Some caution must be exercised when interpreting the 1952 Highway Record (Appendix 8) as
it appears to be a composite map produced in 1987 based upon the 1952 record. As a result it
is quite likely that any changes to the network between 1952 and 1987 have been incorporated
into the plan. It is not therefore possible, taking this document in isolation to identify whether
the exclusion of Route 53-16 is as a result of it being removed from the Record prior to the
production of the original record in 1952, or as a result of its removal at some time prior to the
compilation of the copy document in 1987. When the document is considered alongside the
1955 Highway Record (Appendix 9) which shows route 53-16 albeit crossed out, this would

suggest the latter is most probable. This issue is discussed further later in the report.

In order to attribute them appropriate evidential value the two undated schedules (Appendix
10 and 11) need to be considered in terms of their likely date of production. The schedule at
Appendix 10 appears to be a schedule or proposed amendments which suggests that it was
produced before route 53-16 was removed from the highway records. It may therefore be
considered to be evidence that the route was included in the highway record at that the time
of this documents production. The schedule at Appendix 11 appears to have been originally
produced prior to the removal of the route from the highway records because route 53-16 is
listed and then subsequently crossed out. Due it not being possible to attribute it a specific date

it must be treated with caution.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 39 Page | 21



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.27  The 1970 Highway Record (Appendix 12) appears to be part of a return made to Central
Government (for financial purposes) with respect to the length of highways within the County
Council’s area. It will have been based upon the County Council’s highway records at that time

and may be considered to be of good evidential value.

7.28 It is understood by the Highway Authority that the map contained within Appendix 13 was
compiled circa 1974 although it is undated and uses and 1921 base map. The lack of clear dating
evidence means that this must be treated with some caution, but if it has been dated correctly
it was produced at a time when the County Council was the Highway Authority and it would

constitute being an interpretation of the “List of Streets” at that time.

7.29  Notwithstanding the above | do have some doubts as to whether this document was compiled
in 1974. My reason for doubting this date is that the route was crossed out in the 1970 highway
schedule/returns (Appendix 12) therefore there would be no reason to show the route and
then subsequently remove it. It would simply have not been shown at all. | therefore consider
that this map was produced prior to 1970, although it is unclear as to at what date. In the

absence of clear dating evidence they must be treated with some caution.

7.30  With regard to the 2008 Highways Maps (Appendix 14) these correspond to the route being
added to the current “List of Streets” in 2008 (Appendix 15). This addition of the route to the
record was as a direct result of the current ongoing dispute. Whilst it represents the Highway
Authority’s current view on the matter | consider that it would be inappropriate to afford it any

great evidential value when determining this matter.

List of Streets (Appendix 15)

7.31  An extract from the Consistency Guidelines relating to these documents is included in the

bundle at Appendix 24.

7.32  Highway Authorities are obliged® to maintain a list of all streets within their area that are

maintainable at public expense. The definition of “street” includes any highway. The omission

° Highways Act 1980, Section 36

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 40 Page | 22



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.33

7.34

7.35

7.36

of a publically maintainable highway from the list would represent a failure in the Authority’s
legal obligations. Furthermore the inclusion of a way that is not maintainable at public expense
may result in unlawful expenditure on the part of the Highway Authority. A degree of care must
therefore be exercised by the Highway Authority in compiling and maintaining its records. In
view of the above the inclusion of a street in this list may be considered to be prima facie

evidence that the way in question is highway maintainable at public expense.

It should however be noted that not every public highway is maintainable at public expense. As
a result any highway that is maintainable by a third party (i.e. other than the Highway
Authority), or any highway to which no maintenance liability is attached, should not be included

in this set of records. This would not diminish the status of such a way as a highway.

Notwithstanding the above, in my experience these documents are often misunderstood and
misinterpreted, even by those with responsibility for their management. Furthermore as they
are not governed by the same sort of administrative procedures employed in the management
of Definitive Maps and Statements of Public Rights of Way it can be difficult to identify any
documentary audit trail in relation to the recording of specific routes. Such problems usually
however relate to the under recording of routes rather than over recording (See article at

Appendix 26).

Route 53-16 was not included in the 1988 List of Streets which would indicate that at that time
the Highway Authority did not consider it to be a highway maintainable at public expense. This
is, of course, a commentary on maintenance liability rather than actual status. It is also wholly
consistent with the references in earlier highway records to the route being removed from the

record.

With regard to the 2008 and 2014 List of Streets extracts, these correspond to addition of the
route to the records as a direct result of the current ongoing dispute. Whilst it represents the
Highway Authority’s current view on the matter | consider that it would be inappropriate to

afford it any great evidential value when determining this matter.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 41 Page | 23



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.37

7.38

7.39

7.40

7.41

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)

The Definitive Map and Statement provide conclusive evidence! (as of their Relevant Date) as
to the existence, status and alignment of the highways described within them, generally

without prejudice to the possible existence of additional or higher rights.

The “without prejudice” caveat contained within the conclusive evidence provisions means that
whilst these documents provide conclusive evidence as to the existence of the rights recorded
within them, they do not provide evidence of the non-existence of any rights that are not
shown. It is not therefore possible to infer that highway rights do not existed over a piece of

land by virtue of the fact that they are omitted from the Definitive Map and Statement.

Route 53-16 was not claimed in accordance with Part IV of the National Parks and Access to the
Countryside Act 1949 and subsequently was not recorded on the Definitive Map for the area.
This was not because the route was not considered to be a public rights of way, but because
highway authority records at that time (see Appendix 7) showed it as an unclassified county

road.

A number of footpaths are recorded on the Definitive Map as commencing on or running
adjacent to Route 53-16. Some of the Statements for these paths refer to Route 53-16 as being
a County Road. Whilst the Definitive Map and Statement do provide conclusive evidence the
particulars contained within them, this conclusive status does not apply to the status of Route

53-16.

When considering the evidential value of these documents it must be remembered that the
original claims for routes were made by parish/community councils and such bodies were
required to hold a public meeting on the subject. The maps and statements were then subject
to a number of public consultation exercises where there was opportunity to make objections
and representations. The fact that Route 53-16 was considered to be a County Road during that
time would have been in the public domain and open to a degree of scrutiny. It would certainly

be reasonable to conclude that had anyone wished to challenge the status of the Route at that

10 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 56

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 42 Page | 24



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.42

7.43

7.44

7.45

7.46

7.47

time they would have had the opportunity to do so, even if not directly as part of the Definitive

Map process.
The fact that the Definitive Map process was conducted at a time contemporaneous with the
production of the 1949 Highway Records may increase the overall value of the Highway Records

in question.

The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)

The Special Review was conducted as a result of the provisions of the Countryside Act 1968,
but was never completed and subsequently abandoned as a result of procedural problems with

the way in which the County Council had undertaken the work.

Part of the requirements of the Special Review was to reclassify routes that had been recorded
on the Definitive Map as Roads Used and Public Paths (RUPPs). This reclassification process
included (albeit the Courts later ruled that it was incorrect) a suitability test when determining

the revised status of these routes.

In addition to this work it would appear that Monmouthshire County Council also decided to
consider the status of various unclassified county roads with a view to adding them to the
Definitive Map. Strictly speaking this was not part of the Special review process, but there was
no reason why such work could not be undertaken. It is unclear whether a suitability test similar

that that to be used for RUPPS was being employed in respect of these routes.

The Special Review Map shows that it was proposed that Route 53-16 be added to the Definitive
Map as a Public Footpath. Documentation associated with the review suggest that the reason
for it not being originally claimed was because it was thought (possibly mistakenly) to have
been a County Road at that time. This may suggest that by the time the Special Review

commenced the route had already been removed from the highway records.

Had the Special Review been completed and taken effect there is little doubt that Route 53-16
would now be recorded, in conclusive form, on the Definitive Map as a footpath. However, the
process was not completed and therefore this document set cannot be afforded such a level of

evidential value that it might have been. Nonetheless it does give a clear indication of what the

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 43 Page | 25



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.48

7.49

7.50

7.51

7.52

status of the route was considered to be in the early 1970’s although this must be treated with
some caution as consideration may have been given (incorrectly) to matter of suitability and by
this time the lane is understood to have been substantially overgrown and subject to only

minimal use.

1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

A number of extracts from some sales particulars which are understood to relate to the sale of
the Trelleck Grange Estate circa 1920 have been provided by the land owners. The extracts are
limited and the map referred to has not been provided. A full copy has been requested but has
not been forthcoming. This will inevitably have an effect on the evidential value of the

document sources.

If the entry for “The Panta Farm” is cross reference with the 1910 Finance Act field book entry
for “Great Panta” (as shown on the 1920 OS) the acreages appear to match suggesting that

they are one and same.

Some of the properties listed in the sales particulars refer to roadside frontages etc. but Route
53-16 does not appear to be referred to. This would certainly suggest that it was not considered
to be a public road at that time, but in the absence of the complete document set this must be

treated with caution.
The reference in the schedules to Route 53-16 being a “Road” must also be treated with caution
as it does not specify whether the road is public or private. It does however suggest that it may

have been in a substantially better condition than it is today.

Documents relating to the purchase of Panta Farm in 1977 (Appendix 20)

It is unclear what the precise status of the map referred to is. It may be a plan used for a land
charge search when the property was purchased, or it may have formed part of the deeds. It
clearly shows that Routes 53-11 and 53-18 are not included in the land holding edged in red
whereas Route 53-16 is included. This may be indicative that Route 53-11 and 53-18 are of a
different status to Route 53-16. It is however important to understand that ownership of the

land is not actually relevant to the existence or otherwise of public highway rights, as the subsoil

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 44 Fage |26



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

7.53

7.54

8.0
8.1

8.2

of most highways belongs to the adjoining land owners, and the highway right is the right of

the public to pass and re-pass over (usually) private land.

Various deeds confirm that Route 53-16 was included in the land holding, but as already stated
above, this does not necessarily mean that highway rights do not exist. It would certainly
suggest that there may be some difference in status between Route 53-11/53-18 which was
excluded from the land holding and 53-16 which is not. It is also notable that 53-16 is referred
to as a Track whereas the access road to Little Panta is defined as a Driveway, thus clearly
differentiating between the two. The lack of any qualification between public and private again

means these references should be treated with caution.

Perhaps of greater significance is the fact that a right of way for forestry purposes appears to
have been granted over a section of Route 53-16. If the route had been a public carriageway
such a right would not be necessary and this may be indicative that Route 53-16 did not enjoy
public carriageway rights. It may have been a highway of lower status, or indeed not had any
public rights over it at all. However the first reference to such a right in the extracts provided,
is in the deeds dated 1959. If highway rights are shown to have existed prior to this date, and
had not been stopped up (by due legal process), the private rights would be irrelevant. This is

a matter to be determined by consideration of all of the available and relevant evidence.

Discussion

Having considered what evidence is available and commented upon matters such as the
interpretation and evidential value of specific document types there are a number of issues
which | consider need to be addressed in order to assist the Authority in determining whether

or not to promote a Definitive Map Modification Order.

Itis a matter of documented fact that Route 53-16 has previously been included in the Highway
Authority’s records and that it was attributed the status of an “unclassified county road”. In
order to afford these document appropriate evidential value, and also to assist in bring the
current dispute to a resolution | consider that it may be expedient to address the following
issues:

a) When was Route 53-16 removed from the Highway Records?

b) Why was Route 53-16 removed from the Highway Records?

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 45 Page | 27



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

c) If it was correctly shown on the Highway Records what rights can be inferred from

its classification as an unclassified county road?

When was Route 53-16 removed from the Highway Records?

Route 53-16 was shown on the 1949 (Appendix 7) and 1955 (Appendix 9) Highway Maps. In my
opinion this suggests that at the time of their production the route was considered by the
Highway Authority to be a highway maintainable at public expense at the status of unclassified
county road. There would certainly no logic, and | consider it highly improbable, that the
Highway Authority would show a road on a newly produced document only to immediately
cross it out. The crossing out on earlier (superseded) documents suggests that they were still

in use and being updated.

| have already questioned the 1952 Highway Map (Appendix 8) by virtue of the fact that it is a
version of the 1952 record reproduced (with additional public rights of way information added
etc) in 1987. In my opinion it is highly probable that such a document, if it were to be of any
use, would show any changes (creations, extinguishments and diversion etc) that had taken
place between the production of the original (1952) and the making of the copy (1987). If this
were not the case it may lead to incorrect information being provided, especially when a) the
route is still shown on the 1955 Highway Record (Appendix 9); and b) that by 1987 the Authority
had clear duties with regard to maintaining a list of streets and making such records publically
available. | do not therefore think that the 1952 Highway Record (Appendix 8) can be relied

upon for the purposes of identifying when Route 53-16 was removed.

From this information | consider it reasonable to conclude that Route 53-16 was still included

in the Highway Records in 1955 and that its removal occurred sometime after that date.

As stated previously | consider that the 1970 Highway Record (Appendix 12) may be part of a
return made to Central Government (for financial purposes) with respect to the length of
highways within the County Council’s area. This is speculative but if  am correct then it amounts
to a snap-shot in time with regard to what routes were consider highway at that time. In other

words it is correct as of 1 April 1970 and will not show any changes made after that date.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 46 Page | 28



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.9

8.10

8.11

Of course by 1% April 1970 as can be seen from the record of that date (Appendix 12) the route
had been struck of the list of highways. Due to the logistics of the process and copying
technology of the time, in my view, lists of this nature were far more likely to be duplicated and
then updated/amended by the Authority each year, for the purposes of submitting the returns

than the maps.

By reference to this document | consider it reasonable to conclude that Route 53-16 had been

removed from the highway records at some point before 1% April 1970.

| do not consider that the Highway Maps which are said to have been compiled in 1974
(Appendix 13) were produced at that time (they have been referred to as the 1974 maps for
convenience). My reasons for this are that route 53-16 had already been struck off the 1970
list of unclassified road (Appendix 12) and the documentation relating to the Special Review
(appendix 17 & 18) when the route was proposed to be shown on the Definitive Map as a
footpath and is referred to being previously considered to be a public road also appears to pre-
date 1974. Again | consider it highly improbable, that the Highway Authority would show a road

on a newly produced document only to immediately cross it out.

If my assessment and interpretation of the 1970 Highway Record (Appendix 12) is incorrect

then the above dates may have to be reconsidered

In the absence of further information/evidence it is unlikely that it will be possible to identify a
specific date for the removal of Route 53-16 from the Highway Authority’s records, but taking
into account the above information | consider that Route 53-16 was struck off the records at

some point between 1955 and 1970.

Why was Route 53-16 removed from the Highway Records?

The inclusion of Route 53-16 in the Highway Authority’s records and more particularly its
subsequent removal from those records are, in my opinion, key issues to the determination of
this case. It is a matter of well documented, and in my view indisputable, fact that Route 53-16
was included in the Highway Authority’s records and attributed the status of an unclassified
county road. It is also a matter of well documented, and in my view indisputable, fact that

Route 53-16 was struck off the Highway Authority’s records at some point (probably between

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 47 Page | 29



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

8.12

8.13

8.14

1955 and 1970). If it is possible to reach a sustainable conclusion as to why the route was
removed from the Highway Records, it will then be possible to also reach a conclusion as to
whether any public highway rights still exist today, and indeed whether a Definitive Map

Modification Order should be made to record such rights on the Definitive Map.

In my opinion there are a number of reasons why Route 53-16 may have been struck off the
Highway Records. These are that:
i it was shown on the record in error (i.e. it was never a public highway of
any status)
ii. that highway rights did exist but they were stopped up using due legal
process
iii. that they were removed for other reasons, such as an incorrect process
administrative process or a lack of understanding of highway law (this
would not result in the extinguishment of any rights); or
iv. they were removed (albeit incorrectly) as a result of the Special Review

of the Definitive Map

Was Route 53-16 shown on the Highway Records in error?

If Route 53-16 was shown on the Highway Records in error, strictly speaking this would mean
that it was not a highway maintainable at public expense, but would not preclude the possible
existence of a privately maintainable public highway, or a highway for which no maintenance
liability is attached. Notwithstanding this, for clarity | propose to deal with the issue of whether
or not Route 53-16 is a highway of some status. | will address the issue of maintenance liability

later within my report.

In order to answer this point it is necessary to consider all of the available and relevant evidence
that pre-dates the 1949 Highway Records. If the evidence shows that Route 53-16 was a public
highway prior to 1949, in the absence of evidence of a legal stopping up procedure pre-dating
its inclusion on that Highway Record, it would be reasonable to conclude that those rights were
still in existence as of 1949, and therefore that the records of that date were correct. The legal

711

principle of “Once a Highway, Always a Highway”'* would apply.

1 Harvey v Truro Rural District Council (1903) 2 Ch 638 & Dawes v Hawkins (1860) 8 CB (NS) 848, 141 ER 1399

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 48 Page | 30



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

The depiction of Route 53-16 on some of the early Commercial Maps (Appendix 3) as a through
route to Trelleck Grange and parts of the route on other maps clearly indicates that it has
physically existed for nearly 200 years, and when one looks at the reasons why such maps were
produced (to assist travellers etc) these documents can be said to be indicative, if not prima

facie evidence, of the route being a public highway, and if so, probably a public carriageway.

The Tithe Map (Appendix 4) further confirms the physical existence of the route and when
considered in conjunction with the Commercial Maps (Appendix 3) may be said to be further
supportive of the proposition that the route is a public highway. It certainly does not detract

from such proposition. The same would apply to the Ordnance Survey Maps (Appendix 5).

The records relating to the 1910 Finance Act (appendix 6) show that the section of Route 53-
16 which runs southwards from its junction with Route 53-11 and 53-18 was excluded from the
valuation. Such exclusion can be taken as strong evidence in support of that section of the route

enjoying public highway status, and probably public carriageway status.

The section of the route running to the north of the above mentioned junction however was
not excluded from valuation, but included in the adjoining land holdings. Deductions of £20 and
£5 were claimed in respect of public rights of way across the parcels of land within which the
route was included. Whilst this acknowledges the existence of public rights somewhere across
the land holding it is not possible to attribute the deduction directly to Route 53-16 especially

as other public rights of way are known to exist within the land holding.

The fact that the section of Route 53-16 to the north of its junction with Routes 53-11 and 53-
18 was not excluded from valuation is by no means evidence that highway rights did not exist,
but it does raise the issue of why one section of the route was excluded, and one was not. It
may have been because the section north of the junction was of a lower status than that
running to the south; or it may have been because the section to the north of the junction did

not have any public rights over it at all.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 49 Page | 31



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

The estate sales particulars and deeds (Appendices 19 and 20) identify Route 53-16 as a Road
but are silent as to whether it is public or private, the exception being the right of
way/easement for forestry purposes. This would suggest that the route is not a public
carriageway, but does not negate the possibility of it being a public rights of way of a lower

status (e.g. a footpath or bridleway).

Taking the available pre-1949 evidence as a whole it is finely balanced. The one thing that we
do not have available to us, that was available when the 1949 Highway Record was produced
is local knowledge and living memory dating back to the late Nineteenth Century. Had such

knowledge still been available it may have been possible to shed further light on the matter.

Taking the above matters into account, and the fact that there is no evidence which
categorically shows that Route 53-16 was included in the 1949 Highway Records in error
(although | do accept there is some evidence to support such a proposition) | am of the opinion
that Route 53-16 was probably not shown in error, the case for the section of Route 53-16
which runs southwards from its junction with Route 53-11 and 53-18 being strongest because

of the 1910 Finance Act evidence.

If highway rights did exist were stopped up as a result of due legal process?

If Route 53-16 is a highway maintainable at public expense its removal from the Highway
Records some time during the period 1955 — 1970 would not in itself result in the
extinguishment of the highway rights or the maintenance liability. This could only be achieved
by way of some form of legal order, probably via a Magistrates Court. The decision to apply for
such an Order would not (certainly in the period 1955 — 1970) usually be delegated to Officers
of a Highway Authority but would be a decision for a committee of elected members. The
process also usually requires the agreement of the Parish/Community Council who generally

have a right of veto in such matters.

| am advised that the Monmouthshire County Council Roads and Bridges Committee minutes
and the Devauden Community Council minutes for the period 1929 — 1974 have been checked
by Officers of the County Council and no evidence of any formal legal closure procedures etc
has been discovered in respect of the route in question. Similarly Officers of the County Council

have checked Quarter Sessions Court records for the area and again no evidence of formal

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 50 Page | 32



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

closure proceedings have been discovered. For the purposes of fulfilling my brief | have not

repeated this exercise and am satisfied that these records have been properly checked.
In the absence of any evidence to support the proposition that Route 53-16 has been subject
to formal closure proceedings the only reasonable conclusion to be reached is that any public

highway rights that did/do exist have not been legally extinguished.

Was Route 53-16 removed from the Highway Records for other reasons, such as an incorrect

administrative process or a lack of understanding of highway law?

Itis my experience that the practice of removing routes from highway records for reasons other
than those discussed above has been, and possibly still continues to be widespread. This is
generally not because of any deliberate attempt to falsify the records, but more of an effort to
reconcile the Highway Records with what has and is habitually maintained by the Authority.
This appears to arise as a result of a misunderstanding that if they are to fulfil their purpose the
records whether the List of Streets or a less formal internal document need to show all
highways that are “maintainable” rather than just those highways that are actually
“maintained”. The “Highway Record Management” article at Appendix 25 discusses this matter

and may be of interest.

If Route 53-16 is a highway maintainable at public expense and established that there appears
to be no evidence to support the proposition it was removed from the Highway Record as a
result of formal legal proceedings, it would appear logical that its removal must have been for
some other purpose. The undated hand written schedule (Appendix 10) found within the
highway records includes Route 53-16 and may suggest that it was removed from the records
because it was “not maintained at all”. | am of the opinion that this is the most likely explanation

for the Route being removed from the records.

Was Route 53-16 removed from the Highway Records as a result of the Special Review of the

Definitive Map?

It has been suggested that the removal of Route 53-16 from the Highway Records may have

been as a result of it being proposed for addition to the Definitive Map as a footpath as part of
the Special Review (Appendix 18) . There is certainly evidence (Appendix 17) to demonstrate

that the County Council were pro-actively reviewing their unclassified roads/green lanes and

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 51 Page | 33



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

9.0
9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

were considering their inclusion on the Definitive Map so this is a possibility. However the
timing of the removal of Route 53-16 from the Highway Records (by1970) and the
documentation relating to the Special Review (post 1970) suggest that this is unlikely. There
are also reference to the Route being added at the Special Review due to it not being originally
shown on the Definitive Map due to it being thought to have been a county road. This would
tend to suggest that it was removed from the Highway Records before the Special Review

rather than part of it.

Conclusions Regarding Status

As discussed earlier within my report, my instructions are to provide guidance to the Authority
with a view to assisting them to determine whether or not to make a Definitive Map
Modification Order. The route under investigation (Route 53-16) is not currently shown on the
Definitive Map therefore the legislative test for the purposes of making an Order, as set out in
paragraph 4.27 — 4.31 above is whether public rights are “reasonably alleged to subsist”. In

reaching my conclusions | will therefore apply this test.

In paragraph 8.13 — 8.22 above consideration was given to whether Route 53-16 had been
correctly included in the Highway Records and | concluded that whilst the evidence was finely
balance it probably had. When the highway records themselves (Appendices 6 — 14), along with
the Definitive Map and its associated records (Appendices 16 — 18) are thrown into the balance
as well, the case in support of the proposition that Route 53-16 is a highway is further

strengthened as these records refer to the route as being an unclassified county road.

The issue of what highway rights can be inferred from the inclusion of a route in highway
records as an “Unclassified County Road” has been the subject of much discussion over the
years. Government Advice issued in 1998 suggests that, with regard to status, the inclusion of
a route in the List of Streets as an unclassified county road may be evidence of vehicular rights

but it must be considered along with all other available evidence

More recent research®? (2013) into the matter commissioned by the Motoring Organisations’

Land Access and Recreation Association concluded that “Unclassified County Roads are public

12 Unsealed Unclassified Roads. Their History, Status and the effect of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 — LARA 2013

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 52 Page | 34



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

vehicular highways. While doubt may be attached to individual routes in some authorities,
where there is no specific evidence to the contrary, the balance of probability must be that

routes recorded as UCRs are vehicular highways”

It is certainly my experience that the findings of the 2013 report are sustainable and that in
general terms, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, a route recorded in the highway
records, whether a formal List of Streets or an internal highway authority document, as an

unclassified county road is a vehicular highway.

Having considered all of the available and relevant evidence into account and whilst
acknowledging that there is some evidence by way of the property deeds and etc which may
suggest to the contrary | am of the opinion that public highway rights to a level of public

carriageway (i.e. public vehicular highway rights) are reasonably alleged to subsist.

With regard to the recording of the route on the Definitive Map, having established that, at
common law, the route is reasonably alleged to enjoy public carriageway status it is necessary
to consider the implications of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. This
legislation, as discussed in paragraphs 4.21 — 4.25, essentially extinguishes public rights for
mechanically propelled vehicles over all public carriageways unless certain exceptions apply. In
this particular case none of the exceptions do appear to apply therefore public rights for
mechanically propelled vehicles do appear to have been extinguished and therefore the

appropriate status for the route would be that of Restricted Byway.

| should stress that the case in favour of such rights is significantly weakened in respect of the
section of Route 53-16 which runs northward from its junction with Routes 53-11 and 53-18
due to it not be excluded from valuation in the 1910 Finance Act records. Whilst the County
Council is duty bound, in law, to promote a Definitive Map Modification Order if there is a
“reasonable allegation” over the existence of rights, such an Order may only be confirmed if
the alleged rights are shown, on balance of probability, to subsist. It is therefore possible that

any Order relating to this northern section may not be capable of confirmation.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 53 Page | 35



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

11.0
11.1

11.2

12.0
12.1

12.2

Should the Route be shown on the List of Streets Maintainable at Public Expense?

It would appear that Route 53-16 was removed from the old Highway Records as a result of
procedural anomaly rather than due legal process, therefore if it was maintainable at public
expense at that time, it will remain so today. Furthermore its addition to the Definitive Map as
a Restricted Byway would also mean that it is maintainable at public expense, albeit with no
obligation for it to be maintained to a standard suitable for vehicles. Route 53-16 should

therefore be included in the List of Streets Maintainable at Public Expense.

In the event of a Definitive Map Modification Order being made but it subsequently not being

confirmed this situation will have to be further reviewed.

Decision Required from the Authority
The decision whether or not to make a Definitive Map Modification Order is quasi-judicial in
nature which means that the decision must be made upon an objective assessment of all of the

available and relevant evidence, and not the recommendations of a third party.

Whilst it is my opinion that when all of the available and relevant evidence is considered there
is a reasonable allegation that Route 53-16 does enjoy Restricted Byway rights, the Authority

must make its own decision based upon the evidence placed before it.

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 54 Page | 36



Investigations into the Status of Monmouthshire Lanes
Route 53-16 (Devauden)

Statement of Truth

| understand that my overriding duty is to the court (in this case the County Council who are
charged with making a quasi-judicial decision) and | have complied with, and continue to

comply with, that duty.

| confirm that | have made clear which facts and matters referred to in this report are within
my own knowledge and which are not. Those that are within my own knowledge | confirm to
be true. The opinions | have expressed represent my true and complete professional opinions

on the matters to which they refer.

Robin Carr
FIPROW, MILAM (Cert)
15t June 2015

Robin Carr Associates

2 Friarage Avenue, Northallerton, North Yorkshire DL6 1DZ
Tel: 01609 78717 Mob: 07976 624029

Email: robin.carrl@btinternet.com

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Page 55 Page | 37



This page is intentionally left blank



/G abed

Plan 1 route 53-16 highlighted

Appendix | 1




A List of Documents (not all found to be relevant) (Appendix 2)

Appendix | 2.1
Page 58




A List of Documents (not all found to be relevant) (Appendix 2)

Appendix | 2.2

Page 59




09 abed

A= a4

18t & 19t Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
Cary’s Map 1805

Appendix | 3.1




A=

7

Ld

19 abed

18t & 19t Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
Teedale’s Map 1829

Appendix | 3.2




18t & 19t Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
Thomas Moule’s Map 1848

Appendix | 3.3
Page 62




g abed

18t & 19t Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
Price’s Map 1823

Appendix | 3.4




18t & 19t Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
David & Charles Map 1830

M@éjiﬁw.5




18t & 19t Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
Greenwoods Map 1830

Appendix | 3.6
Page 65




18t & 19t Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
Hall's Map 1831

Appendix | 3.7
Page 66




18t & 19% Century Commercial Maps (Appendix 3)
Gary & Son Map 1840

Appendix | 3.8
Page 67




oo "B 1
89 90td

Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)
Tithe Map (Composite)

Appendix | 4.1




Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)
Tithe Map (1) (Gwent Record Office)

Appendix | 4.2




0/ obed

Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)
Tithe Map (2) (Gwent Record Office)

Appendix | 4.3




T/ obed

Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)
Tithe Map (3) (Gwent Record Office)

Appendix | 4.4




Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)
Tithe Map (4) (Gwent Record Office)
Appendix | 4.5




c) abed

Tithe Map 1839 (Appendix 4)
Tithe Map (National Archives, Kew)

Appendix | 4.6




Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 1inch 1833(1)

Appendix | 5.1
Page 74




G2 sbed

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
OS 1inch 1833(2)

Appendix | 5.2




ol B 1
9/ 9td

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1881(1)

Appendix | 5.3




1 ARD
yAyAR=-iSi-Ta|

189
3-208

191
-419

192
096

o ol A
= e O
~ L 'y o ]
.;mg,;ﬁ - "Js';.afj;@;ﬁ:_ P
G 63
S Lo 63

T EryTe e o -
~ oy Codm €3
L_|,3‘|_f-| - -
e W | ik o

e L e e
[0 20 o Sl e
Et - R

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1881(2)

Appendix | 5.4




I A"Ap
82 9Bt d

(@)

BN

271
13418

0S 25 inch 1881(3)

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)

Appendix | 5.5




P B 2% o M0 |
o 9Bt

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1881(4)

Appendix | 5.6




no_A\Bp 1
08 9Pt

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1881(5)

Appendix | 5.7




TO "RV 1
L1890t

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1881(6)

Appendix | 5.8




Zo_ 2P
(8 9OBtd

A
o { TEELLECE TS BY T 2T i Sthewts 14 15, 260, 21, 25,
Aol | FRELLECK GRANGE 187 - 774 D® 2025, Gregh Mol Woncd

ry

T e ey o
,&ﬁ:‘“"'ﬁh’. :-_
%-, k?'ﬁ:-;:f-’\ -
g e "'“'
“kﬁ,"‘sﬁg_ﬂ\;,_‘. k3
P i

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
OS 6 inch 1886(1)

Appendix | 5.9




Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 6 inch 1886(2)

Appendix | 5.10
Page 83




o A"ADv 1
78 o0tq

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
OS 25 inch 1901 (Composite)

Appendix | 5.11




Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1901 (1)

Appendix | 5.12
Page 85




Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1901 (2)

Appendix | 5.13

Page 86




) g abed

Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1920 (1)

Appendix | 5.14




Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25inch 1920 (2)

Appendix | 5.15

Page 88




Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1920 (3)

Appendix | 5.16
Page 89




Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 5)
0S 25 inch 1920 (4)

Pagddet




1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (Composite) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.1
Page 91




26 abed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (1) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.2




¢6 obed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (2) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.3




v6 abed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (3) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.4




G6 obed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (4) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.5




96 obed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (5) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.6




)6 abed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (6) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.7




96 obed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (7) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.8




66 abed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (8) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.9




00T abed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (9) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.10




TOT abed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (10) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.11




20T abed

1910 Finance Act Map (Appendix 6)
1910 Finance Act Map (11) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 6.12




€0T abed

1910 Finance Act Field Book (Appendix 6)
Hereditament 255 (1)

Appendix | 6.13




A

Ld

0T abed

1910 Finance Act Field Book (Appendix 6)
Hereditament 225 (2)

Appendix | 6.14




GOT abed

1910 Finance Act Field Book (Appendix 6)
Hereditament 324 (1)

Appendix | 6.15




90T 8bed

1910 Finance Act Field Book (Appendix 6)
Hereditament 324 (2)

Appendix | 6.16




/0T abed

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1949 Highway Record (1) (Not to Scale)
Appendix | 7.1




80T abed

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1949 Highway Record (2)

Appendix | 7.2




cnT 2P
ouUl Oovtqg

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1952 Highway Record Updated to 1987 (1)

Appendix | 8.1




OTT obed

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1952 Highway Record Updated to 1987 (2)

Appendix | 8.2




Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1952 Highway Record Updated to 1987 (3)
Appendix | 8.3




21T abed

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1955 Highway Record

Appendix | 9




Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
Undated Hand written schedule

MpUge 13




Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
Division 2 Highway List Undated (1)

Appendix | 11
Page 114




T T f\nv\ ']
all ovtd

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1970 List of Unclassified County Roads (1)

Appendix | 12.1




oTT 2"Bp 1
JLL YvCd

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1970 List of Unclassified County Roads (2)

Appendix | 12.2




11T AR
11 9vtd

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
1974 List of Unclassified County Roads (3)

Appendix | 12.3




8TT abed

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
Undated Highway Maps (compiled circa 1974) (Composite)

Appendix | 13




Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
Undated Highway Maps (compiled circa 2008) (1)
Appendix | 14.1




Nn=21T_ "B 1
UclL vVt g

Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
Undated Highway Maps (compiled circa 2008) (2)

Appendix | 14.2




Highway Authority maps/records (Appendixes 7-14)
Undated Highway Maps (compiled circa 2008) (3)

Appendix | 14.3




List of Streets (Appendix 15)
List of Streets 1988 (1)

Appendix | 15.1
Page 122




List of Streets (Appendix 15)
List of Streets 1988 (2)

Appendix | 15.2
Page 123




List of Streets (Appendix 15)
List of Streets 1988 (3)

Appendix | 15.3

Page 124




List of Streets (Appendix 15)
List of Streets 2008 (1)

Appendix | 15.4
Page 125




List of Streets (Appendix 15)
List of Streets 2008 (2)

Appendix | 15.5

Page 126




List of Streets (Appendix 15)
List of Streets 2012

Appendix | 15.6
Page 127




This page is intentionally left blank



62T abed

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map sheet 25 (1) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 16.1




QST abed

L g

G

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map sheet 20 (2) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 16.2




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statement cover

Appendix | 16.3
Page 131




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statements 161 - 179

pREEd2e




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statement (Numbers not included)

Appendix | 16.5

Page 133




yeT abed

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statements 166 - 179

Appendix | 16.6




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statement (Numbers not included)

Appendix | 16.7

Page 135




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statements 180 - 200

Appendix | 16.8

Page 136




/€T abed

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statements 184 - 200

Appendix | 16.9




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statements 201 - 486

Appendix | 16.10

Page 138




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Draft Definitive Map Statements (No Numbers included)

Appendix | 16.11

Page 139




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Additions and Deletions Map (Not to scale)

Appendix | 16.12
Page 140




THT abed
vv Vv (.- |

bt.f PN E

- ._--7;&,&. *"‘*"’*‘3’ fw

AN 8 Doy 2% ‘l lLa

T
at.sas t.‘n.

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Definitive Map sheet 25 (1) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 16.13




2T aber A

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Definitive Map sheet 20 (2) (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 16.14




Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Definitive Map Statements cover

Appendix | 16.15
Page 143




v T abed

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Definitive Map Statements 162 - 188

Appendix | 16.16




G T abed

Definitive Map and Associated Documents (Appendix 16)
Definitive Map Statements 189 - 482

Appendix | 16.17




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Study of Green Lanes Letter dated 9" August 1978

Appendix | 17. 1
Page 146




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Study of Green Lanes Letter dated 12t July 1978

PR L




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Study of Green Lanes Letter dated 12t July 1978

Appendix | 17. 3

Page 148




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Unclassified Roads Green lanes Letter dated 10t March 1975

Appendix | 17. 4

Page 149




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Unclassified Roads Green lanes Letter dated 10" March 1975

Appendix | 17.5
Page 150




=
a

abe

TCT
2y 2

The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Review table (1)

Appendix | 17. 6




A |

Ld

ZCT abprd

A=

The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Review table (2)

Appendix | 17.7




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Special Review of County Green Lanes Letter dated 30™ November 1971

PR e




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Chepstow Rural — Alterations to Green Lanes - table

Appendix | 17.9

Page 154




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Special Review Green Lanes Letter dated 11 March 1971

Appendix | 17. 10

Page 155




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Green Lanes Letter dated 3™ February 1971

Appendix | 17. 11
Page 156




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Special Review letter dated 14t January 1971

Appendix | 17. 12
Page 157




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Special Review Additions and Deletions - table (1)

Appendix | 17. 13

Page 158




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Special Review Additions and Deletions - table (2)

Appendix | 17. 14
Page 159




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Special Review Additions and Deletions - table (3)

pRge1 6l >




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Special Review File Notes - table

Appendix | 17. 16

Page 161




The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Chepstow Rural — Alterations to Green Lanes - table

Appendix | 17. 17
Page 162




=
a

abe

CAOT
CJIv

The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Extract of Special Review Map (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 18.1




9T abed

The 1972 Special Review of the Definitive Map (Appendix 17 & 18)
Extract of Special Review Map (Not to Scale)

Appendix | 18.2




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)
Sales particulars (Appendixes 1a and 1b)

Appendix | 19.1
Page 165




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)
Sales particulars (Appendixes 1c and 1d)

Appendix | 19.2
Page 166




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)
Sales particulars (Appendixes 1e and 1f)

Appendix | 19.3
Page 167




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

Appendix | 19.4
Page 168




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

Appendix | 19.5

Page 169




is reserved 4o the Vendor
ulation No. ra).

Attractive Farm

Farm
K GRANGE

DA d DOUL

Ir  26p.
§ac-ate grass and 59 aa'?a{f)ic-

armhouse

with {Jrc!:g;x& adjoining, is
roof ‘and Aontains Four Bed
Hall T'wo Sitting Rc.v:ya‘s,_
b 7"‘;&'0.\0 Shed, stc../and
ly pépaired and re-roofed.

Zoply (see Conditiods of Sale

m Premjses

ruction a¥ith riled roofs and |

Feedinig Walk, Stable for 3,
Barg with Hay Loft, Chaff
b Pigshf‘i Round a2 Serond

Lattle Shed with Cripy Two
to tie about 6, Detas ed Cart
a Netached Small/Yard, with
d, Crib.
D % 7
- / s
ipticn. / Acreage
rRaANGE PARIsH.
// S 9302
&g, etc, / '547
o 727
E '549|
4 238
o 3041
8-760|

7 €555
, . 7877 i
87 Arab 11'80Q —
187 Grass V5 " 1'g99 D
166 Ditto : . 101300 =
170 4 Grass ', e 9538
16g Arablé 5839
(AN T,Fe'es ‘349
24 “Arable o 17'105
1652 Grass . Bid 10°101
;x;%,[nmfb o 827y, =
“186  Trees . 575
2097/~ (Grass s e F038
206 4 Ditto = Sl NE T A eve 2 Q47T
207 , Arable o Ay T 138y
208 + Grass “— e - 13'g0Y
205 Trees ‘479
; Difto '998
NewcHL East Panisu
237, Arable 4 1834 :
._):‘ I'rees . s 133E 7
-
Tarrteck FarisH -
Pribry (1rass ."‘1’5(}
-
iD7'415
J/'
Let to '\'r A. ""T\Jl‘bd._l with ul.ber/la/uds. Aul:ornaned -

Keat £ Il.l
Appv*t;ﬁ:{&ugomp Y
Pithe Free,
/ Land Tax £5
\aJ 1e of Timber {111,

/!‘

.

P
The Sporting over [his Lot is reser ved to ke Vendor
sutil 25th March, rg2r. Bee supulation N 1g.

LOT 4 (Coloured Pink on Plan No. 1).

A Particularly Attractive and Valuable

Sporting, Agricultural and
Forestal Estate

situated in the Parishes of Wolvesnawton, Newchurch
Fast and Trelleck Grange, and extending to some

491a. 2r. lp.

and including a useful

Grazing and Mixed Farm

known as
The Panta Farm

extending to some 288 acres, upon which is

1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

Appendix | 19.6
Page 170




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

Appendix | 19.7

Page 171




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

Appendix | 19.8
Page 1




1920 Sales Particulars for the Trelleck Grange Estate (Appendix 19)

Appendix | 19.9
Page 173




+ 1T apbrd
vLilL ¥YMYU

Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Plan (2 — North Section)

Appendix | 20.1




ST ebed

Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Plan (1 — South Section)

Appendix | 20.2




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 1

Appendix | 20.3

Page 176




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 2

Appendix | 20.4
Page 177




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 3

Appendix | 20.5
Page 178




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 4

Appendix | 20.6
Page 179




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 5

Appendix | 20.7
Page 180




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 6

Appendix | 20.8
Page 181




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 7

Appendix | 20.9
Page 182




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
1977 Conveyance Page 8

Appendix | 20.10
Page 183




This page is intentionally left blank



Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959)

Appendix | 20.11

Page 185




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959)

Appendix | 20.12

Page 186




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959)

Appendix | 20.13

Page 187




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959)

Appendix | 20.14

Page 188




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959)

Appendix | 20.15

Page 189




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959 — page 1)

Appendix | 20.16

Page 190




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959 — page 2)

Appendix | 20.17
Page 191




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1959 — page 3)

Page" 6P 18




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1961 Conveyance Plan)

Appendix | 20.19

Page 193




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1961 Conveyance page 1)

Appendix | 20.20
Page 194




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1961 Conveyance page 2)

Appendix | 20.21
Page 195




96T abed

Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance Plan (1))

Appendix | 20.22




JAT abprAd

(Mol B4 d"™ |

Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance Plan (2))

Appendix | 20.23




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance page 1)

S




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance page 2)

Arepdeigd




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance page 3)

Appendix | 20.26
pEge 200




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance page 4)

Appendix | 20.27
Page 201




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance page 5)

Appendix | 20.28

Page 202




€0¢ abed

% 0

._’,l

Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1965 Conveyance page 6)

Appendix | 20.29




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 1)

PRGE0%




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 2)

Appendix | 20.31
Page 205




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 3)

PERFE3 0832




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 4)

Appendix | 20.33
Page 207




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 5)

Appendix | 20.34
Page 208




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 6)

Appendix | 20.35
Page 209




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 7)

Appendix | 20.36
Page 210




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 8)

Appendix | 20.37
Page 211




pInonUe Lo L1uRo)

g o, o
' OHNOOA UTH

QILINIT SRILBESOUL NOLLENIH

e T

Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)

Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (1) page 9)

Appendix | 20.38
Page 212



Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (2) page 1)

Appendix | 20.39

Page 213




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (2) page 2)

Appendix | 20.40

Page 214




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (2) page 3)

Appendix | 20.41

Page 215




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (2) page 4)

Appendix | 20.42

Page 216




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (2) page 5)

Appendix | 20.43

Page 217




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (2) page 6)

Appendix | 20.44
Page 218




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (3) page 1)

Appendix | 20.45

Page 219




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance (3) page 2)

Appendix | 20.46
Page 220




Documents related to 1977 Purchase of Panta Farm (Appendix 20)
Various property deeds (1973 Conveyance Plan)

Appendix | 20.47
Page 221




This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.1

Page 223




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.2
Page 224




‘Map of a Nation — A biography of the Ordnance Survey’ — Rachel Hewitt
2010

‘The Ordnance Survey of the United Kingdom' - T. Pilkington White, 1886 -
A history of the OS by its serving Executive Officer. Available as a reprint on
demand.

‘Maps and Map-Makers’ - RV Tooley 1952 — Chapter viii covers the County
maps in detail.

DMO Consistency Guidelines — 5" revision January 2015 Section 12 page 3

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

B 5




GUIDANCE
Introduction

12.1 The fundamental problem with all maps is that they incorporate
compromises in their efforts to represent a spherical surface onto a flat
surface. Thus, no one map is capable of simultaneously representing
accurately the four factors involved of distance, direction, area and
shape. That said, the 17" and 18" centuries saw a tremendous surge in
the development of the mathematical requirements of maps, and in the
manufacture of the precision instruments required for the accurate
assessment of bearing and level.

12.2 In many instances, the purpose of the presentation of a map at an
inquiry is to support arguments regarding the status of a route. Any
route on such a map needs to be assessed carefully against the route
shown on the Order Map, to ensure that the routes substantially agree.
The age of the map may also be significant in relation to its accuracy, as
will the key attached labelling the types or status of the routes inscribed
on the map.

Pre-1800 Maps and Atlases

12.3  The value of pre-1800 maps and atlases is variable, as they are generally
compromised by a lack of sophistication. Colonel Close, a former Director
General of the OS, considered that picturesque and interesting as old
county maps are, they leave a great deal to be desired on the score of
accuracy ..... errors of up to 10% can be found in Elizabethan maps’.
Only a few were based on trigonometric surveys, or on a recognised
mathematical projection.

12.4 The original six ‘Great Post Roads’ are shown on Thomas Gardiner’s maps
of 1677. Secondary roads are also shown on these maps branching off at
the main Post Towns. The key attached to some of the maps shows
several of these branch routes as '‘By posts (foot and horse)’. However, if
the key does not accompany the maps, they are unlikely to be good
evidence regarding the status of these secondary routes.

12.5 Most of the county maps produced in considerable numbers in the second
half of the 18" century were in response to an offer by the Royal Society
of Arts of a prize of £100 for a map of any county on a scale of 1 inch to
the mile. In 1765, Benjamin Donn won the £100 award offered by the
Rovyal Society for his map of Derbyshire.

12.6 Many of these early map makers made use of trigonometric surveys in
the production of their County maps, including Burdett for Cheshire and
Derbyshire, Yates for Lincolnshire, Staffordshire and Warwickshire,
Armstrong for Durham, Prior for Leicestershire, Hodskinson for Suffolk
and Strachey for Somerset. Cary maintained a high standard with his
maps, and in 1794 was employed by the Postmaster General to supervise
the survey of 9000 miles of turnpike roads. Cary also employed Aaron
Arrowsmith to be the land surveyor for his ‘Map of the Great Post Roads
between London and Falmouth,” produced in 1784. It was as a result of

DMO Consistency Guidelines — 5 revision January 2015 Section 12 page 4

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

PRgEI8




Cary’s belief that he could copy OS maps without restriction that, in
1817, the OS took steps to copyright the maps it produced.

12,7 Although the second half of the 18" century saw considerable progress,
both in the number of maps produced and in their technical accuracy,
they were not always reliable for their topographical details. Dr Hodson
maintains that the greatest scope for error ... lies with the county map,
few of which were surveyed entirely de novo.’® Nevertheless, in
Gallagher Neuberger ] was satisfied that the historical maps he was
considering demonstrated that Beoley Lane had existed as an identified
way since about 1722, accepting that old maps contained inevitable
inaccuracies. He was less able to draw confident conclusions from any of
the historical maps as to whether or not it was a public carriageway. The
map on which he placed most reliance was that of Cary (dated post-
1800).

12.8 However the evidential value of the older maps can be significant in
helping to determine the location of a way, and may be helpful in
determining the status of a route, especially in conjunction with other
maps. Although the level of accuracy of sketch maps may be difficult to
determine, they too can be of value in some circumstances.

Ordnance Survey Maps

12.9 The formation of the Ordnance Survey in 1791 reflected the experience
gained in the military survey of Scotland by William Roy, the intellectual
founder of OS, and was in response to a military need for accurate maps
of southern England in preparation for a possible Napoleonic War. Whilst
the earliest one-inch maps were produced in response to these military
concerns, there was a shortage of trained military surveyors and many of
the early maps were produced by local civilian surveyors. The suggestion
that all road or ways shown on the first edition of the one inch maps are
of roads or ways suitable for wheeled artillery is likely to be no more than
a generalisation. However, the Old Series 1 inch maps did label turnpike
roads and distinguished them from other roads by a thickening of the
casing lines on the south and east side of the road.

12.10 Over the years, OS developed a variety of maps to meet the growing
need for accurate and up-to-date maps of the UK and the production of
maps for sale to the public became an activity of increasing importance to
0OS from the early twentieth century, although the sale of maps to the
public had occurred throughout its existence.

12.11 The first one-inch maps (1:63,360) were produced in 1801 and covered
Kent, part of Essex and London. It was not until 1873 that the whole of
the UK was covered. They were relatively unsophisticated monochrome
maps, with relief indicated solely by hachures. Inspectors may also be
presented with copies of the Ordnance Drawings, which were carried out
for southern England over the period 1789 - 1840. They were drawn to
a variety of scales, 2 inches, 3 inches and 6 inches to the mile. Some of
the drawings were made 20 years before the relevant one-inch map was

" RWLR article ‘The evaluation of older maps’ July 1999, section 9.3, page 31

DMO Consistency Guidelines — 5 revision January 2015 Section 12 page 5

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.5
Page 227




published. Some larger scale drawings show footpaths which did not
appear on the printed map.

12.12 A demand for maps showing the countryside on a larger scale led to a six
inch to the mile map of Ireland, (1:10,560). This was then extended to
the rest of the UK. From 1840, the one inch maps of northern England
and Scotland were reductions of the six-inch survey.

12.13 The industrial development of the Victorian era, followed by the rapid
expansion of towns and communications, led to a demand for even larger
scale plans. In 1858, it was decided to publish the whole of the UK on a
scale of 1:2500 (approximately 25 inches to the mile).

12.14 The first edition OS maps, in the eyes of Colby, the Superintendent of the
Survey, were prodigies of excellence in comparison with earlier maps, but
it became apparent that some of the early one-inch maps suffered from
errors as they had been made in a hasty manner during the war. This
was particularly true regarding the maps for Lincolnshire, Hampshire and
Lundy Island, although Colby had sought to identify, correct and
eliminate inaccuracies found during the surveying process. In addition,
the maps had been constructed using a mathematical projection which
had some inherent inaccuracies at the extremes of the map to the north
and south. To overcome this problem, the OS utilised a series of
meridians for differing parts of England and Wales. As a result, roads
and paths on adjacent maps at county boundaries do not always match
precisely, and reflect the north/south errors in the projection. However,
since this mismatch is created by the projection process used for the
making of the map, the positional accuracy is not significant.

12.15 The process of refashioning the old County Series scale maps to National
Grid standards was undertaken between 1948 and 1980. The process,
referred to by the OS as ‘Overhaul’ or the 'Cotswold Adjustment’,
attempted to eliminate errors, particularly those of distortion and
mismatching. The methodology used involved a degree of ‘cut and paste’
technique to align the former projection with the National Grid. Recent
advances in global positioning systems and their ready availability have
revealed positional discrepancies on the ground. These differences,
where they occur, are normally of 3 — 5 metres, but can be up to 10
metres in places. However, the fact that satellite technology may
demonstrate that all the objects in a given area are a few metres out in
relation to their current depiction on a two-dimensional plan will have
little impact upon the relative position of one feature to another on the
ground. Any positional inaccuracy revealed by GPS technology does not
detract from the usefulness of pre-GPS Ordnance Survey maps as a
record of what was observable on the ground at the time of the maps
were surveyed.

12.16 The status of routes on early OS maps is still a matter of debate at
inquiries. The following points may assist in reaching a decision on the
evidence provided by a particular map.

12.17 Bench marks were located along a line of levelling, and often followed
lines of communication. However, they can also be found on rocks in the

DMO Consistency Guidelines — 5 revision January 2015 Section 12 page 6

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

PRGE Y28




middle of private land. Consequently it cannot be assumed that a bench
mark is indicative of a public right of way.

12.18 Access for surveyors was governed by the Survey Act of 1841, which
gave surveyors virtually unlimited access. Thus, the indication of spot
heights along a route would not necessarily be proof of a public right of
way.

12.19 The practice of annotating paths 'F.P.” on large scale maps from 1883
arose from an instruction to surveyors issued in February of that year
(quoted by Dr R Oliver in ‘OS Maps - a Concise Guide for Historians’) that
‘the object of.... F.P. being that the public may not mistake them for roads
traversable by horses or wheeled traffic’. The inclusion of “F.P.” gave rise
in 1885 to letters being written to The Times complaining that the public
were likely to view such annotations as indicating the existence of a
public footpath. On behalf of the OS, Col. Pilkington-White responded
that it was the practice to show paths on the ground, irrespective of
whether they were public or private. From 1888, Ordnance Survey maps
carried a disclaimer to the effect that the representation of a track or way
on the map was not evidence of the existence of a public right of way*°.

12.20 An 1893 OS circular instructed that “all footpaths over which there is a
well-known and undisputed public right of way should be shown”. This
instruction appears to be at odds with the disclaimer that the post-1888
maps carried and with the 1885 response of Col. Pilkington-White in The
Times. The 1893 Circular was also issued after the 1893 Dorrington
Committee had concluded that no inquiry by the surveyor could
determine whether a path was a public or private one.

12.21 The Instructions to Surveyors (see ‘Other Publications” above) set out the
parameters under which the surveyors were to undertake their task. It
was not until 1905 that surveyors were instructed that 'OS does not
concern itself with rights of way, and survey employees are not to inquire
into them.” However in the same paragraph of these Instructions, there
is a note stating that ‘A clearly marked track on the ground is not in itself
sufficient to justify showing a path, unless it is in obvious use by the
public’. The 1905 instructions appear therefore to be somewhat
ambiguous; subsequent instructions to surveyors contain equally
ambiguous instructions as surveyors were given directions as to the
nature of paths that should and should not be recorded whilst
maintaining that public rights of way were not the concern of OS,

12.22 The Dorrington Committee also recommended the adoption of a fourfold
classification scheme for roads being shown on OS maps, with each
classification being dependant on the width of the road at issue and the
type of traffic each road could carry. In relation to what were to be shown
as first and second class roads, the committee considered that it was
‘desirable that the roads thus classified as first and second class should
be of such a nature that the public are certain of having free access over

“ On late 20" century OS maps which show those ways which are recorded in definitive maps and
statements, the disclaimer is modified to acknowledge that some routes shown are public rights of
way.

DMO Consistency Guidelines — 5 revision January 2015 Section 12 page 7

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.7
Page 229




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.8
Page 230




preparation of the Popular Edition (1919 - 1926). The Committee
recommended that “Carriage Drives, private roads and minor roads are
never coloured”; whereas on the popular edition the key stated “private
roads are uncoloured”.

12.27 Until 1931, the OS and highway authorities used different systems to
classify roads. Although the numbers used in the Ministry/Department of
Transport’s national classification began to appear on 1:2500 maps from
1938 and on 1:10,560 maps from 1945, OS had begun publishing the
half inch Ministry of Transport Roads Map series showing the national
classification in 1922.

12.28 Most roads on OS current 1:25,000 and 1:50000 maps are coloured
according to their category, as identified in the key/legend. However,
some minor ways may be left uncoloured. These are known informally as
“White Roads.” The OS has consistently felt unable to identify the status
of these minor ways which are described as “other road, drive or track.”

12.29 The areas of each field were published on 1:2500 maps, with a parcel
number to identify the particular field. Bracing indicates parcels that
were measured together. A road braced with a private field may be
suggestive of private status. But this would be no more than the
surveyor’s perception and would carry little evidential weight.

12.30 Public roads depicted on 1:2500 maps will invariably have a dedicated
parcel number and acreage. It has been argued that all parcels which
have the shape of a way and are so numbered and measured are
therefore highways. This argument has not been substantiated. Such
depiction is far from conclusive for the confirmation of highway status.

12.31 Later OS surveys and maps, especially the larger scale plans, provide an
accurate representation of routes on the ground at the time of the
survey. The inaccuracies of the earlier projection were virtually
eliminated by the development of an alternative form of map projection.
However, it should be emphasised that the depiction of a way on an OS
map is not, of itself, evidence of a highway. The courts have treated
Ordnance Survey maps as not being evidence of the status of a way. For
example, in the case of Attorney-General v Antrobus [1905] 2 Ch 188 at
203, Farwell ] stated in relation to an Ordnance map of 1874:

“Such maps are not evidence on questions of title, or questions whether a
road is public or private, but they are prepared by officers appointed
under the provisions of the Ordnance Survey Acts, and set out every
track visible on the face of the ground, and are in my opinion admissible
on the question whether or not there was in fact a visible track at the
time of the survey”.

12.32 Similarly, in Moser v Ambleside Urban District Council (1925) 89 JP 118
at 119, Pollock MR stated:

“If the proper rule applicable to ordnance maps is to be applied, it seems
to me that those maps are not indicative of the rights of the parties, they

DMQ Consistency Guidelines - 5" revision January 2015 Section 12 page 9

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

ARsRGd 931




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.10
Page 232




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.11

Page 233




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 12 Maps (Commercial, Ordnance Survey, Estate etc.) and Aerial Photographs

Appendix | 21.12
Page 234




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 6 Highway Records and Related Documents

A dix | 22.1
PBage 235




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 6 Highway Records and Related Documents

Appendix | 22.2
Page 236




documentary evidence is covered in more detail in later sections of these
guidelines). Papers relating to schemes for street lighting, tramways,
gas, electricity and water undertakings become numerous in the late 19%
century.

6.6 Any of these various types of document may provide evidence on
adjacent paths, roads or tracks and therefore could be relevant as
evidence in relation to the existence of Highways.

County Records

6.7 County records go back into the 19™ century and may consist of any of
the following, in addition to those items already mentioned:

County Surveyor’s Annual/Quarterly Reports

Report of County Works Committee

Special Reports on Main Roads

Various minutes, estimates, tenders and grants

Rights of Way Reports

1929 Handover Maps and Records

County List of Streets

County Surveyor’s Map and other records of Roads and Bridges
Aerial Photographs

Definitive Maps and Statements

Often these records bear notes relating to rights of way. Some of the
annotations may have been for internal administrative purposes and may
sometimes reflect only the views of the surveyor or engineer of the day.
The evidence they provide therefore needs to be viewed in context. An
article in Section 9 of the RWLR called ‘Highway Authority Records’
provides helpful background, particularly on those relating to County
Roads and the Definitive Map.

1929 Handover Maps

6.8 The following comments apply to the 1929 and all other formal
handover/takeover documents and to today’s List of Streets®. The view
that this form of documentary evidence may be relevant appears to have
been endorsed by Hooper ] in R v SSE and Somerset County Council ex
parte Masters 1999. The Secretary of State for the Environment (SSE)
had argued that such documents were a positive indication of what the
Highway Authority then believed to be the status of the roads listed.

% Section 36(6) of the Highways Act 1980 requires every highway authority to make and keep up to
date, a list of streets within its area which are highways maintainable at the public expense.

DMOQ Consistency Guidelines — 3rd revision May 2013 Section 6 page 3

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 6 Highway Records and Related Documents

Appendix | 22.3

Page 237




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 6 Highway Records and Related Documents

Appendix | 22.4
Page 238




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 6 Highway Records and Related Documents

Appendix | 22.5
Page 239




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 6 Highway Records and Related Documents

Appendix | 22.6
Page 240




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 8 Tithe Commutation Documentation

Appendix | 23.1

Page 241




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 8 Tithe Commutation Documentation

Appendix | 23.2
Page 242




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 8 Tithe Commutation Documentation

Appendix | 23.3
"Page 243




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 8 Tithe Commutation Documentation

Appendix | 23.4
Page 244




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 8 Tithe Commutation Documentation

Appendix | 23.5

Page 245




They may not necessarily be good evidence either of public rights or the
nature of any public right that may exist. The full value of a particular
map can only be determined by careful consideration of all the available
tithe documents, including any relevant contemporaneous instructions or
keys, and by comparing it with other reputable maps of the time to
establish the relevance of the way to the overall road network. However,
as statutory documents, where they do provide evidence it should be
given the appropriate weight bearing in mind the original purpose of the
documents concerned and the issues identified above.

DMO Consistency Guidelines - 2 revision July 2013 Section 8 page 6

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 8 Tithe Commutation Documentation

Appendix | 23.6
Page 246




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 11 Partl — Finance Act 1910

Appendix | 24.1

Page 247




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 11 Partl — Finance Act 1910

Appendix | 24.2
Page 248




of Form 36, the distinct categories were run together into ‘public rights of
way or user’. Information from the Field Books (which are kept in the
National Archive at Kew), including deductions in value for ‘public rights
of way or user’, was copied into the relevant columns in the Valuation
Books, which are normally now found in Local Record Offices. Working
plans (see below at 11.7), sometimes with detailed annotations, were
completed in the field and the final record plans, which normally show
only hereditament boundaries, were compiled from them.

11.5 Although direct evidence of the acknowledgment by a landowner of a
public right of way from an entry on a Form 4 may be considered to be
very strong, the vast majority of them were destroyed after the
transcription of their information into the Field Books. However, evidence
of the existence of a public way across a hereditament may be deduced
from, for example, a Field Book entry showing a deduction under *public
rights of way or user’, with further clear hand-written details, such as use
of the words *public footpath’. The position of such a way may be shown
by annotations on the working plans or written information in the Field
Book. But where hereditaments were large and crossed by numerous
paths it may not be possible to conclude from written information that a
particular route was referred to. Even where field plans are annotated,
and paths marked as ‘public/, it may be unclear when and by whom
annotations were made. Evidence from Field Books and plans may
provide good evidence of the reputation of a way as public, but care
should be exercised when drawing conclusions from material not known
to be provided directly by or on the authority of the landowner.

11.6 It has been asserted that the term ‘public right of user’ refers to private
rights of way, but, apart from some apparently anomalous entries on a
few surviving Forms 4, there is no evidence of this use of the term. It
would normally refer, when distinguished from a public right of way, to a
non-linear public right, such as a right of recreation. A private right of
way is normally a form of easement, and a deduction for such a way
would be expected to be found under the heading of easements.

Exclusion of a route on the map record

11.7 Working copies of the plans are normally found in Local Record Offices.
Most final record plans are in the National Archive. They are based on
large-scale Ordnance Survey plans. The 1910 Act required all land to be
valued, but routes shown on the base plans which correspond to known
public highways, usually vehicular, are not normally shown as included in
the hereditaments, i.e. they will be shown uncoloured and unnumbered.
It is possible, but by no means certain, that this is related to s.35(1) of
the Act: No duty under this part of the Act shall be charged in respect of
any land or interest in land held by or on behalf of a rating authority.
The practice would also be compatible with s.25(3) which states that The
total value of land means the gross value after deducting the amount by
which the gross value would be diminished if the land were sold subject
to... any public rights of way. So if a route in dispute is external to any
numbered hereditament, there is a strong possibility that it was

DMO Consistency Guidelines = 5th revision July 2013 Section 11 page 3

Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 11 Partl — Finance Act 1910

Appendix | 24.3

Page 249




Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Order: Consistency Guidelines (Appendixes 21-24)
Section 11 Part1 — Finance Act 1910

Appendix | 24.4
Page 2




Published Articles on Highway Records (Appendix 25)
Overview of the history of Highway Authority records

Appendix | 25.1

Page 251




Published Articles on Highway Records (Appendix 25)
Overview of the history of Highway Authority records

Appendix | 25.2

Page 252




“A Bottle of Tipex and a Crayon”
Good Practice in Highway Records Management?

Following the recent apparent demise of the Discovering Lost Ways Project, which failed not, as
some suggest, because the Definitive Map system 1s cumbersome, and overly complicated etc (and
broken), but because those with responsibility for the project did not listen to those professionals
who knew better then themn, there have been calls for a major overhaul of the system.

If such an overhaul were to take place 1t would, as we have seen from the recent atternpts, at
legislating away problemns, rather than dealing with them, potentially result in a dumbing down of
the system, and almost inevitably the further blanket loss of historic rights on a scale that, apart
from NERC, we have not seen since late 1930’ Germany!

The fact of the matter, of course, is that the system does work, and indeed works very well,
although as with anything, it would benefit from relatively minor amendments and changes to

improve it.

So, what has this to do with the List of Streets you ask? Well, it has been said, on more than one
occaston, that i our little world of Public Rights of Way “we have this comples: system for recording public
highways on the Definitive Map, whereas the highway maintenance records are managed by a systemt involving a

bottle of tipex: and a pack of multi-colowred crayons!ll’.

I know a) which systern I prefer, namely the one that best protects the nghts of the public and 1s
least open to abuse; and, b) that tipex and crayon management causes all sorts or problems and is
the root of all ewnl!

Of course, the culture of “crayon management™ has, in my expenence, developed as a result of a
lack of understanding, principally by those who both use and manage these documents, of the
records themnselves, and what they are meant to show. It 1s a widespread problem and 1 do not
know of a single Highway Authority in England or Wales that actually manages these records
correctly (a few may stick their heads above the parapet as a result of this article, but I doubt there
will be many). If it 1s not misunderstanding, 1t can only be a gross dereliction of duty and a knowing
disregard of statutory obhgations. Whilst ignorance may be bliss, there 1s “something to be seen in
the woodshed” and a serious problem to be addressed, especially as we are now seeing legislation
being implemented (e.g. CROW & NERC), which is drafted on the premise that the records are

bemng correctly mantained.

So, what is the List of Streets?

To answer this properly we do perhaps have to break the term down into its component parts,
namely by defining what is meant by the term “street” and then identifying which of these “streets™
are “mantainable at public expense”

What is a Street?

The legal concept of a “Street” 15 a creation of statute, with its modern definition denving from the
Section 4 of the Public Heath Act 1875. However care must be taken to ensure its proper

mnterpretation, depending upon when and in what context the terrn 1s used. This article does not
cover every varation of the definitions, but does, I think cover the key points.

02/03/2015 1/ 4

Published Articles on Highway Records (Appendix 25)
“A bottle of Tipex and a Crayon” Good Practice in Highway Records Management?

A dix | 25.3
"Page 253




The common meaning of the word street 1s “a road with houses on one or both sides of if”, was approved

by Jessel M.R in Taylor v Oldham Corporation(1876-7):

“The street itselfis mo donbt property the paved or prepared road, that is, the street. It sometines includes
the howses along each side of it. But that is not its proper meaning. 11 is catled a street even without honses.
There are some streets with no houses. But the usnal common nreaning of the word “street” is a road with
honses on one or both sides of if”.

The commeon definition 1s not, in any way restrncted to public highways, 1t can, and does also
include ways, which are not dedicated as public highways; and will apply wherever there is no
alternative definition provided within a statute.

The Public Heath Act 1875 defined the term “street” as including any highway (not being a
I.llr‘f][‘)ik(‘f I'()F](i:), 5“1(1 5].”}( 1"11’)]1‘(: }31—%(18(" {:f}(ﬂ }3(".if'lg a (jt.Jll”t.y Bﬂ(igl‘) }lfl('l IUly T()ﬂ(.l; I}!fltfj r()()?.wfly}
square, court, alley or passage whether a thoroughlare or not. Other Acts of the time provide the
same definition.

In “The Law Relating to Highways” by A Glen (Barnister) Second Edition (1897) the author argues
that the word “incdudes” was used within the defimtion of the term “street”, and not the word
“means™; hence the term not only applied to a “highway...etc 7, but also to anything which 1s a
street in the ordinary sense of the term.

The modern legislative definition of street, and which supersedes that within Section 329 of the
Highways Act 1980, is perhaps more tightly defined and may be found within Section 48 of the
New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 where “..a ‘street’ means the whole or any part of any of
the following, irrespective of whether it 1s a thoroughfare-

a) any highway, road, lane, footway, alley or passage,

l)} ﬂle S(lll?].rt". or (:()url, H.TI({

c) any land laid out as a way whether it is for the time being as a way or not.

Whilst, in some circumstances, there may be some uncertainty whether reference to a “street” can
be interpreted as a reference to the existence of public tghts, we can be certain that, by the
inclusion within the definition, of the term “highway”, that it does apply to all classifications of
routes recorded within the Deflinitive Map and Statement, provided of course that they are publicly
mamtainable.

What is Maintainable at Public Expense?

Firstly, on this particular issue, let’s get away from the concept that for something to be
“mamtainable at public expense™ it has to be “adopted™. This 1s utter buncombe!! (that would be a
technical term used only in polite consultant spealk). If we must use the term “adopted” then use it
in its proper context, i.e. a highway that has been subject to the process of adoption, thus making it
maintainable at public expense; rather than applying it to everything that should be on the List of
Streets, much of which may never have been subjected to such a process.

It is not within the scope of this artide to set out the history of highway maintenance
responsibility. We can however list the circumstance/types of highway, which are maintainable at
‘}:)llb]i(‘. t:xl)f'.f].‘\'ﬂ (:(JT as I)rf‘.\r‘it)llsly‘\ })y I}Iﬂ ifl}lﬂ.})itﬂ!]t.s at ]Hrg(-:), ﬂ.r“'l S}'l(!ll](l t.}]ﬁrﬁr‘)rﬁ })(‘5 on t}'lf'. Izi:"T !J{-

Streets. These may be summarsed as:

0270372015 2/4

Published Articles on Highway Records (Appendix 25)
“A bottle of Tipex and a Crayon” Good Practice in Highway Records Management?

Appendix | 25.4

Page 254




. Footpaths, awarded bridleways and carriageways ‘made” prior to implementation of the
Highways Act 1835 (1.e. Ancient Highways);

. Awarded bridleways and carriageways ‘made” after the implementation of the 1835 Act,
which have been ‘adopted’ (e.g. Highways Act 1980, Section 38) ;

. Footpaths and bridleways that existed upon implementation of the National Parks and
Access to the Countryside Act 1949;

. Footpaths and other bridleways ‘made’ prior to the implementation of the Highways
Act 1959,

. Reclassified RUPPs, as from their date of reclassification; and

. Footpaths, bridleways and restricted byways created or diverted by Public Path Order

or agreement.

How do we Add or Remove Routes form the List of Streets?

Whilst the List of Streets does not enjoy a process equivalent to Definitive Map Modification
Orders, the crcumstances under which routes can be added or removed are both limited and
specific. Routes can only be added to the List of Streets if they satisfy one of the criterion listed
above.

The circumstances for removal are even more limited, namely if:

. the public highway rights cease to exist (e.g. through due legal process);
. a Magistrates Court issues an Order under Section 47 of the Highways Act 1980 to
remove the maintenance liability; or

. there is cogent evidence to suggest the route is recorded in error.

They cannot be removed simply at the whim of a Counail Officer, or even because the route has
never been maintained, as the latter certainly does not prevent it from being “maintainable”.

The Correlation between the Definitive Map and the List of Streets

As discussed above, the majority of public rights of way are highways maintainable at public
expense and as such the Highway Authority 1s directly responsible for their mamtenance, yet for
some inexplicable reason Highway Authorities are most reluctant to record these routes on their
List of Streets Maintainable at Public Expense.

Is it unportant you ask?

Well, failure to maintain the List of Streets correctly does constitute a breach of the statutory
requiremnent to maintain this publicly available record. Similarly, failure to properly record “adopted
estate paths™ (for want of a better description) on the Definitive Map and Statement also
constitutes a breach of the Statutory Duty to keep these records up to date. Both of these issues at
very least must constitute maladministration, but that aside it results in peor customer service and
misinformation being provided to the general public.

02/03/2015 3/ 4

Published Articles on Highway Records (Appendix 25)
“A bottle of Tipex and a Crayon” Good Practice in Highway Records Management?

Aopsitd 255




Published Articles on Highway Records (Appendix 25)
“A bottle of Tipex and a Crayon” Good Practice in Highway Records Management?

PRgEDE6>°




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 1) - Letter 27-1-2015 MC

Appendix | 26.1

Page 257




Gz abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 2) - Letter 27-1-2015 MC

Appendix | 26.2




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 3) - Letter 26-1-15 GW

A dix | 26.3
PEEGe 259




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 4) - Letter 26-1-15 GW

Appendix | 26.4

Page 260




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 5) - Email 31-1-15 RC

Appendix | 26.5

Page 261




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 6) - Email 31-1-15 RC

Appendix | 26.6

Page 262




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 7) - Letter 13-1-15 JMC-1

Appendix | 26.7

Page 263




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 8) - Letter 13-1-15 JMC-2

Appendix | 26.8

Page 264




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 9) - Letter 27-1-15 JRB

Appendix | 26.9

Page 265




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 10) - Email 30-1-15 AU Access & Bridleways Officer

Appendix | 26.10

Page 266




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 11) - Attached document with comments from Access & Bridleways
Officer British Horse Society 30-1-15 AU-1

Appendix | 26.11

Page 267




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 12) - Attached document with comments from Access & Bridleways
Officer British Horse Society 30-1-15 AU-2

pages6E 1




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 13) - Attached document with comments from Access & Bridleways
Officer British Horse Society 30-1-15 AU-3

Appendix | 26.13
Page 269



Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 14) - Attached document with comments from Access & Bridleways
Officer British Horse Society 30-1-15 AU-4

Appendix | 26.14
Page 270




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 15) - Attached document with comments from Access & Bridleways
Officer British Horse Society 30-1-15 AU-5

Appendix | 26.15
Page 271



Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 16) - Attached document with comments from Access & Bridleways
Officer British Horse Society 30-1-15 AU-6

Appendix | 26.16
Page 272



Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 17) — Email 31-1-15 GH-1

Appendix | 26.17

Page 273




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 18) — Email 31-1-15 GH-2

Appendix | 26.18

Page 274




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 19) — Email 30-1-15 MD-1

Appendix | 26.19

Page 275




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 20) — Email 30-1-15 MD-2

Appendix | 26.20

Page 276




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (1) (page 21) — Letter 27-1-15 PAM

Appendix | 26.21
Page 277




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 1) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-1

Appendix | 26.22

Page 278




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 2) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-2

Appendix | 26.23

Page 279




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 3) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-3

Appendix | 26.24

Page 280




4. Definitive Map Review and Special Review:-

e Appendices 25 and 26 have nothing to do with this review. They are
highway records.

e There is no evidence that highways engineers desired that the route in
question should be removed from highways maps and entered onto the
rights of way register. There is a memo which includes a list of highways
that engineers proposed for downgrading. This memo does not include
53-16. The entries listed in the memo were not removed from highway
records and remain on the records today.

e There is no evidence that the “schedule of amendments” was part of this
review.

e There is no justification to alter the highways records.

5. The NERC Act 2006
e Itis not proven that 53-16 is a full public vehicular highway.
e [tis accepted by everyone (except Ms Mussel) that the NERC Act would
extinguish any vehicular rights if they existed.

6. The List of Streets:-

e The first statutory List of Streets for Chepstow Rural District Council was
compiled in 1988. Previous highway records were internal documents.

e The List of Streets is a record of highway maintenance responsibility not a
record of status.

No one can say when numbers were attributed to highways.

e The route has clearly been carefully removed from all highways maps and
lists. Highway lengths are calculated to two decimal places.

¢ The schedule of amendments is referred to on maps and on another
highway record.

o The alleged route was never on the List of Streets so could not be wrongly
removed.

e Itis therefore perfectly possible that the route was entered on highway
lists erroneously and was never a highway maintainable at public expense
and was therefore legitimately removed from the non statutory highway
lists.

7. Summary:-

e MCC responded to S 56 Notice and told the Magistrates Court that the
alleged route was on the List of Streets. This was incorrect it was not on
the List of Streets,

e The whole of the alleged route was conveyed. We own the all the land in
question and have full paper title.
0S maps cannot indicate the status that any route should be recorded.
0S maps cannot suggest that highways maps have been amended
erroneously.

e Definitive Map and Special Review Appendix 24 was commenced in 1971
and abandoned in 1979.

e How can Ms Mussel know what highways engineers desired in 1970’s?

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)

Consultation Responses (2) (page 4) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-4

Appendix | 26.25
Page 281



e There is no evidence that the route in question was ever a public highway.
The NERC Act would apply if public rights were proven.
As the alleged route is neither on the List of Streets nor the Definitive Map
itis unclear why MCC admitted liability in the Magistrates Court and to
the complainant.

8. Conclusion:-
e There is no historic evidence included in the report that actually shows
the route in question is a publicly maintained road.
e The complainant did not proceed to the Magistrates court in 2008.

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 5) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-5

Appendix | 26.26

Page 282




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 6) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-6

Appendix | 26.27

Page 283




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 7) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-7

Appendix | 26.28

Page 284




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 8) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-8

Appendix | 26.29

Page 285




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 9) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-9

Appendix | 26.30

Page 286




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 10) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-10

Appendix | 26.31

Page 287




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 11) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-11

Appendix | 26.32

Page 288




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 12) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-12

Appendix | 26.33

Page 289




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 13) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-13

Appendix | 26.34

Page 290




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 14) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-14

Appendix | 26.35

Page 291




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 15) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-15

Appendix | 26.36

Page 292




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 16) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-16

Appendix | 26.37

Page 293




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 17) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-17

Appendix | 26.38

Page 294




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 18) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-18

Appendix | 26.39

Page 295




o= "B i
J0C¢C 9YvTE(d

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 19) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-19

Appendix | 26.40




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 20) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-20

Appendix | 26.41

Page 297




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 21) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-21

Appendix | 26.42

Page 298




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 22) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-22

Appendix | 26.43

Page 299




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (2) (page 23) — Letter 29-1-15 R&IBrooke-23

Appendix | 26.44

Page 300




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 1) — Email 29-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-1

Appendix | 26.45

Page 301




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 2) — Email 29-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-2

Appendix | 26.46

Page 302




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 3) — Email 29-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-3

Appendix | 26.47
Page 303




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 4) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-4

Appendix | 26.48

Page 304




GoE abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 5) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS- maps 5

Appendix | 26.49




anec abr 4
UL VYU

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 6) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS- map 6

Appendix | 26.50




1NC apbpr 4
LU YVYU

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 7) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-photographs 7

Appendix | 26.51




80¢ abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 8) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-photograph 8

Appendix | 26.52




cnce A"
OuUc vvtq

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 9) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-photograph 9

Appendix | 26.53




A\ T O f\R‘\f\ 'l
Ulc @VEd

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 10) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-photograph 10

Appendix | 26.54



T TN f\nv\ ']
lLlec ©VEd

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 11) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-photographs 11

Appendix | 26.55



7T abhp 4
CLO Y~M©YU

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 12) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-photographs 12

Appendix | 26.56




cTC aped

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 13) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-photographs 13

Appendix | 26.57




T O "\RV\ 1
Vic 9Mtd

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 14) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-map 14

Appendix | 26.58



cTC abprAd
- PO T

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 15) - Email 28-1-15 DW Right of Way Officer GLASS-map 15

Appendix | 26.59




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 16) — Letter 27-1-15 AD Welsh Government

Appendix | 26.60

Page 316




ITC ARV 1
Z1c 99tg

Print hepsz/uk-mg-bt.mail.yahoo.com/neo/launch? partmer=bt-1& rand=9...  Print psi g-bt.mail.yahoo.com/nea/launch? pariner=bt- 1 &.rand=9...

From: Alistair <a.r.brocke@hotmail co uk>
Te: " | y@prow.biz” {@prow.biz>

From: Reobin Carr Asscciates (robin.carr] @btinternet.com) Sent: Wednesday, 28 January 2015, 16:01
Subject: Re. Consultation 53-16

Subject: Re: Re. Consultation 53-16

To: a.rbrooke@hotmail co.uk;

Date: Wednesday, 28 January 2015, 17:15 Dear Mr Carr,

Please find attached my letter in reference to the above consultation.
Dear Mr Brooke

Regards,
Thank you for your email and attached letter, the contents of which are noted. Alistair

In response to the comments made | can offer the following responses:

It is unlikely that a land charge search would have di the exist of any highway in 2008 the
search questions ask what is on the Authority’s records rather than do any highway rights exist. As it would
appear that the routes under investigation were not on the Highway Authority's records at that time the search
was undertaken, they would have been y in the negative. This is not, of course, evidence that
the alleged rights do not exist, it simply confirms they were not recorded on the Authority’s records at that time.

| enclose a plan showing the routes under investigation. This may be clearer that the copy attached to my letter.
This digital copy clearly identifies the routes under investigation. There is, of course, no doubt that the route
referred to as 53-16 has physically existed for well over 100 years and is clearly shown on large scale
Ordnance Survey mapping. Such maps do, of course carry a disclaimer tot he effect that the showing of any
path track or way is not evidence of public rights. Such maps will be ppropri i ial value
within our investigation.

with regard to the route being previously added to the Highway Record, | can advise that there is no statutory
requirement for a Highway Authority to notify anyone when adding a route to the List of Streets - this may not
be ideal and in this instance, it would appear to be one reason why the Council is now considering whether or
not the route should be added to the Definitive Map using a legal order process that does include advertising

and notification requirements

Your objection to the recording of the route on the Definitive Map is noted. | must however stress that the
Council is obliged 1o make a Definitive Map Modification Order if it is satisfied that the alleged rights are
"reasonably alleged to subsist" however such an Order can only be confirmed if it is shown that the rights "on
balance of probabily subsist”. There is therefore no requirement for the Council to produce conclusive evidence
of the existence of the rights before they are recorded on the Definitive Map. You may therefore be expecting a
far greater evidential burden to be sati than is actually required. Such matters will be discussed withn our
final report, which we understand will be available to the public in due course.

| trust that the above is of assistance

Robin Carr

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Address: 2 Friarage Avenue, Northallerton, North Yarkshire DLE 1DZ
Email: robin.carr1@btinternet com
Web: www.prow.biz
www.blastkleen.com
Tel: 01608 781717
Mob: 07976 624 029

1of2 280172015 17:15 2012 28/01/2015 17:15

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (pages 17 & 18) — Email 28-1-15 AB-1&2

Appendix | 26.61




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 19) — Email 28-1-15 AB 3

Appendix | 26.62

Page 318




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 20) — Letter 16-1-15 KR

Appendix | 26.63

Page 319




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 21) — Letter 17-1-15 GJ-1

Appendix | 26.64

Page 320




Tcg abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 22) — Letter 17-1-15 GJ-2

Appendix | 26.65




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 23) — Email 14-1-15 NS-1

Appendix | 26.66
Page 322




c7e abpAd
[ 2 Ao W |

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 24 & 25) — Email 14-1-15 NS-2&3

Appendix | 26.67




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 26) — Email 3-1-15 OM-Open Spaces Society

Appendix | 26.68

Page 324




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (3) (page 27) — Email 20-1-15 A&KM

Appendix | 26.69

Page 325




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 1) — Email 30-12-14 JB Clerk St. Arvans

PRE%28 "




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 2) — Letter 23-1-15 RG-1

Appendix | 26.71

Page 327




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 2) — Letter 23-1-15 RG-plan 2

Appendix | 26.72
Page 328




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 4) — Email 8-1-15 NS Welsh Water-1

Appendix | 26.73
Page 329




ocg abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 5 & 6) — Email 8-1-15 NS Welsh Water-2 & 3

Appendix | 26.74




TEE abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 7) — Email 8-1-15 NS Welsh Water-4

Appendix | 26.75




zse abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 8) — Email 8-1-15 NS Welsh Water-5

Appendix | 26.76




cce gfhrd

GOU

A

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (pages 9 & 10) — The Devauden Village Website-1 & 2

Appendix | 26.77




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 11) — Email 4-1-15 AJIT Rambler’s Association

Appendix | 26.78
Page 334




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 12) — Email 3-1-15 OM-Open Spaces Society

Appendix | 26.79
Page 335




ogcg abed

Print hitps:/fuk-mg-bt.mail.yahoo. h?.partner=bt-1& rand=4...

Robin Carr Associates
Public Rights of Way Management & Consultancy Services

Address: 2 Friarage Avenue , Northallerton, North Yorkshire DL6 1DZ
Email: robin,carri @btinternet. com
Web: www.prow.biz
www._blastkleen.com
Tel: 01608 781717
Mob: 07976 624 029

Fdmntial 4

This email and any files t itted with it are ¢ and i 1 solely for the use of the
individual or entity to whom they are addressed. It may contain privileged and confidential
information and if you are not the intended recipient, you must not copy, distribute or take any action
in reliance on it. If you have received this email in error please notify us as soon as possible by
telephone on 01633 644644. This email has been virus scanned by Microsoft Exchange Online
Protection

20f2 140172015 17:14

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 13 & 14) — Email 2-1-15 AW Councillor St Arvans with Tintern

Appendix | 26.80




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 15) — Email 30-12-14 JB-Clerk St Arvans Community Council

Appendix | 26.81
Page 337




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 16) — Email 7-1-15 PF-Western Power

Appendix | 26.82

Page 338




6cE abed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 17) — Email 7-1-15 PF-Western Power

Appendix | 26.83




N+=C abr 4
\VA' S a4 dd = |

PLOT CENTRE:

349133.043.199652. 321

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

DRAWN BY:

SCALE 1z

1250

@ A4

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)

Consultation Responses (4) (page 18) — Email 7-1-15 PF-Western Power

Appendix | 26.84




Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 19) — Consultation Letter 30-12-14 RC-1

Appendix | 26.85
Page 341




v obed

Copies of consultation responses and associated correspondence (Appendix 26)
Consultation Responses (4) (page 20) — Consultation Letter 30-12-14 RC-2

Appendix | 26.86




Officer: Paul Keeble — Group Engineer (Highway & Flood Management)
Phone no: 016330644733
E-mail: paulkeeble@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal
To determine whether or not to register the route in question as a restricted
byway on the Definitive Map and Statement.

Name of Service Highways

Date Future Generations Evaluation 28" October 2016

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and sustainable
development principles include: Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan, Local Development Plan,
People Strategy, Asset Management Plan, Green Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language Standards, etc

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below? Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect,

p-? together with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.

o)
® Does the proposal contribute to this goal? What actions have been/will be taken to
ﬁ/ell Being Goal Describe the positive and negative impacts. mitigate a.my negative. i.mpgcts or better
w contribute to positive impacts?

A prosperous Wales n/a n/a

Efficient use of resources, skilled,

educated people, generates wealth,

provides jobs

A resilient Wales The Order if made will not change the environment. n/a

Maintain and enhance biodiversity and | If any maintenance if the order is required the

ecosystems that support resilience and | Authority will follow the Rights of WAY Biodiversity

can adapt to change (e.g. climate Manual.

change)




Well Being Goal

Does the proposal contribute to this goal?
Describe the positive and negative impacts.

What actions have been/will be taken to
mitigate any negative impacts or better
contribute to positive impacts?

A healthier Wales

People’s physical and mental wellbeing
Is maximized and health impacts are
understood

If the Order is made it will provide a better network for
people to use..

n/a

A Wales of cohesive communities
Communities are attractive, viable, safe
and well connected

The Order if made does not impact on the
community.

n/a

A globally responsible Wales
Taking account of impact on global
well-being when considering local
social, economic and environmental
wellbeing

n/a

n/a

9 Wales of vibrant culture and
riving Welsh language

¢Qulture, heritage and Welsh language
e promoted and protected. People

are encouraged to do sport, art and

recreation

n/a

n/a

A more equal Wales

People can fulfil their potential no
matter what their background or
circumstances

n/a

n/a




2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development?

Sustainable Development

Principle

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met this
principle? If yes, describe how. If not explain why.

Are there any additional actions to be taken to
mitigate any negative impacts or better contribute
to positive impacts?

Balancing short term | The long term result if this Order is made will be that the n/a
& need with long term route is recorded correctly on the Definitive Map and
and planning for the | Statement. The status of the route will be clarified for future
tengTerm — fyture reference.
Working together n/a n/a
H‘ with other partners
to deliver objectives
Collaboration
Involving those with | All the adjacent property owners have been consulted and n/a
an interest and all their evidence has been included within the body of the
;)!' w seeking their views | reports.
volvement
D Putting resources The Order if made will clarify the status of the route and n/a
w into preventing prevent confusion of responsibilities in the future.
a problems occurring
oo OT getting worse
Considering impact | n/a n/a
on all wellbeing
goals together and
. on other bodies




3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Please explain the impact, the
evidence you have used and any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected characteristics, the Equality

Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Standards that apply to Monmouthshire Council please follow this

link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/Allltems.aspx or contact Alan Burkitt on 01633 644010 or

alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Protected
Characteristics

Describe any positive impacts your

proposal has on the protected
characteristic

Describe any negative impacts

your proposal has on the
protected characteristic

What has been/will be done to
mitigate any negative impacts or

better contribute to positive

impacts?
Age n/a n/a n/a
Disability n/a n/a n/a
Gender n/a n/a n/a
T®assignment
o
‘Blarriage or civil n/a n/a n/a
gartnership
D
Pregnancy or n/a n/a n/a
maternity
Race n/a n/a n/a
Religion or Belief n/a n/a n/a
Sex n/a n/a n/a
Sexual Orientation n/a n/a n/a
Welsh Language n/a n/a n/a



http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk

4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and
safeguarding. Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities? For more information please see the guidance
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safequarding%20Guidance.docx and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate

Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx

Describe any positive impacts your
proposal has on safeguarding and
corporate parenting

Describe any negative impacts
your proposal has on safeguarding
and corporate parenting

What will you do/ have you done
to mitigate any negative impacts
or better contribute to positive

impacts?
Safeguarding n/a n/a n/a
Corporate Parenting | n/a n/a n/a

5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?

0

Qhe report by Robin Carr Associates along with all relevant appendixes consists of all the evidence and data that has informed the development of this

roposal.

w

Jshe evidence consists of historical documentation. The Authority has investigated this; 2 pre-order consultations with all the adjacent landowners, various
pliblic rights of way user Associations and Societies and Utility providers. Along with all this evidence other case law and legislation such as the 1981
Wildlife and Countryside Act and the 2006 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act has been applied and discussed in these reports.

6. SUMMARY: As aresult of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future?

The Order if made will neither positively nor negatively impact on the well-being goals or the sustainable development principals.



http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx

7. ACTIONS: As aresult of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if
applicable.

What are you going to do When are you going to do it? Who is responsible Progress

n/a

n/a

n/a

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will
evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on: Three years after the Order has been confirmed.

o
9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then
@ honed and refined throughout the decision making process. Itis important to keep a record of this process so that we can
g demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible.

0]
Version | Decision making stage Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following
No. consideration
1 The Rights of Way Advisory Panel (RWAP) in 17th July 2016 Members recommended making the order.
assessing the evidence and assisting the
Community Services Cabinet Portfolio Member
to determine whether or not to make a
Definitive Map Modification Order.
2 Single Member Cabinet Decision 31st August 2016




	Agenda
	1 DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER 2016, Section 53 (C)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Restricted Byway (53-16), Great Panta, Devauden
	1a  20160719 licencing committee report c53-16
	1b  Appendix 1 DMMO Section 53_3_c_i Order plan
	1c  Appendix 2  Final Report 53-16
	1c 01 App_ LocationPlan-Hstoricmaps1- 5.17 GPRCarr
	1c 02 App_FinAct Map HghwayRecs6 - 15.6 GPRCarr
	1c 03 App_DefMapDocs16 - 18.2 GPRCarr
	1c 04 App_SalesPartConvey 19 - 20.10 GPRCarr
	1c 05 App_Convey Deeds 20.11 - 20.47 GPRCarr
	1c 06 App_PINS Guide 21 - 24.4  GPRCarr
	1c 07 App_OtherPublications25 - 25.6 GPRCarr
	1c 08 App_ConsultResponse26 - 26.44 GPRCarr
	1c 09 App_ConsultResponse26.44- 26.86 GPRCarr
	1d Future Generations Form -28th October 2016


